A Comparison Between Unit-Based Education and Centralized Education Among Staff Nurses

Marilyn J. Campbell

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education in Teachers College, Columbia University 2023

©2023 Marilyn Jane Campbell All Rights Reserved

Abstract

A Comparison Between Unit-Based Education and Centralized Education Among Staff Nurses

Marilyn Jane Campbell

Educating staff nurses is pivotal in the evolving healthcare environment. Two staff development models used in the healthcare setting are unit-based and centralized. Unit-based education is a staff development model that places educators on individual units. These educators direct the educational development of staff nurses on their assigned units. Centralized education meets generalized learning needs and provides nursing departments with scheduled education sessions or impromptu meetings regarding changes to policies and procedures. In addition, centralized educators are assigned to address the learning needs of the nurses on several units with universal orientation (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992), coordinate and implement intravenous and blood transfusion therapy courses, physical assessment courses, professional update programs, and universal workshops and conferences (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). In contrast, unit-based educators are more familiar with the unit's practices and staff nurses while providing more individualized staff education than the centralized model.

This research was conducted to explore the association between the type of staff development model and staff nurses' evaluations of their clinical educators, their anxiety, and their clinical reasoning. The researcher used a quantitative descriptive comparative, cross-sectional, intact group design. The sample included staff nurses (N = 86) from a tertiary care medical center in New York City. The staff nurses were from two units with a unit-based educator and two units with a centralized educator. Data were collected from the first week of

September 2022 to the first week of December 2022. Two reports are described below

that are based on this research, which included administering four different scales. Not all respondents completed all four scales.

The first report concerns the findings on two instruments that measured the staff nurses' evaluation of clinical educators. The Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ), developed for this study, measured nurses' perceptions of the extent to which their staff educators' methods were consistent with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) measured staff nurses' perceptions of their current staff educators as clinical educators. An exploratory factor analysis was conducted on the CEEQ questionnaire developed by the researcher, a Pearson's correlation analysis between the two surveys, the CEEQ and the NCTEI, and a Chi-square analysis and independent *t* test was conducted to compare demographic variable among the unit-based and centralized education groups was also conducted. In addition, differences between group responses for independent sample comparisons were examined using *t* tests.

There were significant differences between the groups, t(100) = 3.31, p = .001, on the CEEQ. The 59 participants in the unit-based group scored higher (M = 119.76, SD = 19.62) than the 43 participants in the centralized group (M = 106.86, SD = 19.17) on perceptions of their instructors' methods as consistent with the adult learning theory. The groups also differed on the perceived effectiveness of their nurse educators as clinical instructors, t(94) = 2.66, p = .009, on the NCTEI. The 55 participants who represented the unit-based group (M = 250.5, SD = 70.34) had higher means than the 41 participants in the centralized group (M = 212.8, SD = 66.14).

The second report concerns staff nurses' anxiety during staff education as measured using the State Anxiety Inventory (SAI) and staff nurses' self-report of their clinical reasoning as measured by the Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale (NCRS). Differences between the group responses for independent sample comparisons were examined using *t* tests. The anxiety of the 48 participants in the unit-based group (M = 35.7, SD = 11.47) was compared to the anxiety of the 38 participants in the centralized group (M = 37.2, SD = 11.35). No statistically significant differences were found, t(84) = -.633, p = .528. Similarly, there was no significant difference between the groups on the NCRS, t(85) = -.188, p = .852. The 48 participants who represented the unit-based group (M = 59.1, SD = 6.61) did not differ from the 39 participants in the control group (M = 59.3 SD = 6.80) on clinical reasoning. Findings showed that the staff nurses evaluated the unit-based educators more highly but that the two models did not differ regarding their effects on anxiety and clinical reasoning.

This is the first study to examine staff nurses' evaluations of their clinical educators. Findings indicate that staff nurses reported more effectiveness for unit-based educators than centralized educators regarding practices that aligned with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. In addition, this is also the first research study to examine the relationships of staff development models to anxiety and clinical reasoning during staff education. Although the two models did not differ on their effect on anxiety and clinical reasoning, additional research is recommended to explore other variables that may further justify the investment in unit-based education.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
Acknowledgments
Dedication
Chapter 1 1
Specific Aim
Research Questions
Changes in Methods
Organization of the Dissertation
Dissemination Plan
References
Chapter 27
Literature Review
Centralized Staff Development9
Decentralized Staff Development
Unit-Based Education11
Theoretical Framework
Purpose
Method
Design
Study Participants
Human Subjects Protection17
Study Setting
Instruments

Demographic Questionnaire	
Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ)	
Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI)	
Procedure	
Data analyses	
Results	
Description of the Sample	
Comparison of groups on Demographic variables	
Psychometric Evaluation of the CEEQ	
Correlation between the CEEQ and NCTEI	
Research Questions	
Discussion	
Limitations	
Implications	
Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 3	
Anxietyand Learning	
Clinical Reasoning	
Purpose	
Method	
Design	
Study Participants	
Human Subjects Protection	
Setting	

Instruments	55
Demographic Questionnaire	56
The State Anxiety Inventory (SAI)	56
Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale	57
Procedure	57
Data Analyses	58
Results	58
Description of the Sample	58
Research Questions	60
Discussion	60
Limitations	63
Implications	64
Conclusions	65
References	66
Chapter 4	76
Conclusions	76
Appendix A: Site Authorization Cooperation Letter	79
Appendix B: Informed Consent	80
Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire	84
Appendix D: Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire guided by Knowles' Assumptions.	86
Appendix E: NCTEI Survey Instrument	93
Appendix F: Recruitment Email for Potential Participants	98
Appendix G: SELF-EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE STAI AD Form Y-1	99
Appendix H: Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale	102
Appendix I: NCTEI Permission for Use	104

Appendix J: Stait-Trait Anxiety Inventory Permission for Use	105
Appendix K: The Nurse Clinical Reasoning Scale Permission to Use	106

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire and The Nursing Clinical Teacher	
Effectiveness Inventory Sample Response Explained	. 34
Table 2.2_Demographics Characteristics of Staff Nurses Sample	. 35
Table 2.3 Crosstabulation of Sample Demographics and Staff Development Groups	41
Table 3.1 State Anxiety Inventory and Nursing Clinical Reasoning Scale Sample Response	
Explained	. 72
Table 3.2 Demographics Characteristics of Staff Nurses Sample	. 73

Acknowledgments

Thank God for guiding, blessing, and keeping me healthy through these unprecedented times. I want to extend gratitude to my dissertation chair, Dr. Kathleen O'Connell, and committee members, Dr. Jane Dickinson, Dr. Ann Marie Mauro, and Dr. Youmi Suk, for their support and insight during this challenging process of completing my dream of obtaining a doctoral degree. I am extending a special thank you to Dr. O'Connell (KOC) for hanging in there with me through encouragement, having a sense of humor, demonstrating compassion when needed, sharing her vast knowledge, and providing weekly constructive feedback.

Throughout this dissertation process, some unique individuals were instrumental in my success. First, to my daughter, Sam, thank you for being my number one supporter, always putting up with the anxiety, tears, and uncertainty, and promptly answering the phone. Second, my dear sister Caron has been my rock and keeps me focused, and my reality check. Third, I also want to thank the rest of my family, Brandon, and Darren, for giving me jokes to lighten my day. Additionally, I appreciate my cohort, especially Heather, Isla, and Tim, for keeping the promise to hang in there no matter what and for their continual support. Fourth, thanks to my dear friends who constantly check in on me, praying and sending encouraging words such as "take a break" and "you got this." Finally, thanks to Dr. Veronica Thompson for her encouragement from day one, and all this would be moot if it weren't for the staff nurses who participated in the study; I thank and appreciate you.

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Dorine Campbell, whose unrelenting love and support have allowed me to reach my end goal. The debilitating disease "Alzheimer's" has cheated her from witnessing this milestone. Still, I know she is proud of me.

Chapter 1

The coronavirus disease 2019 (Covid-19) pandemic has transformed healthcare globally, created challenges for healthcare professionals, and solidified the need for continual staff development (Zuo & Miller, 2021). Staff development is paramount in nursing because of the changes in healthcare needs, such as the acuity of managing illnesses, patient status changes, and other mandatory nursing responsibilities (Sheriff & Banks, 2001). As long ago as 2001, the Institute of Medicine considered it necessary to prepare healthcare professionals for the complex healthcare delivery systems of the 21st century (Witter, 2012). As a result, many strategies have been proposed to promote good patient outcomes (Coto et al., 2020), stress and anxiety reduction among staff nurses (Lary & Mardani-Hamlooleh, 2019), and increased nurses' clinical reasoning skills (Wu, 2016).

Since 1992, three staff development models have been used in healthcare: centralized, decentralized, and unit-based education (Sheriff & Banks, 2001). Unit-based education offers personal, educational programs tailored to individual nurses' needs rather than wide-ranging education programs (Topley, 2009). In addition, unit-based educators are competent nurses assigned to meet bedside staff nurses' educational and clinical needs, have years of experience, are highly proficient in nursing practice, and endorse professional growth among nurses (Lockhart, 2004; Lockhart & Bryce, 1996).

In contrast, centralized education meets generalized learning needs and gives nursing departments a universal orientation (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). An example of a centralized staff development model is the Montefiore Learning Network at Montefiore Health System in New York City.

Specific Aim

The study aimed to explore the association between the type of staff development model and staff nurses' evaluations of their clinical educators, anxiety, and clinical reasoning. The following research questions were addressed:

Research Questions

- Are nurses who practice in unit-based education environments more likely to report that their instructors' methods are consistent with the six assumptions of Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* than nurses who practice in centralized education environments?
- 2. Are nurses who practice in unit-based environments more likely to report that their instructors are better clinical teachers than nurses who practice in centralized education environments?
- 3. Will staff nurses exposed to unit-based education have lower state anxiety levels during staff education than staff nurses on units with centralized education?
- 4. Will staff nurses exposed to unit-based education have enhanced clinical reasoning compared to staff nurses on units with centralized education?

Changes in Methods

Since the proposal hearing, alterations have been made due to Covid-19, the delay in Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, and the departure of staff nurses from the proposed units. The original population of staff nurses was approximately 400 when the researcher did the initial investigation on the four preselected inpatient units. The current count is 198, which resulted from a mass exodus of staff nurses due to illness, travel assignments, retirement, new job opportunities, and nurses with less than 3 months of experience, an exclusion criterion.

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) application at the research site (Montefiore Medical Center) was submitted on 4/22/22, and approval was sent on 8/5/22. Data collection was initially predicted to last 6 weeks; however, due to the delay of the IRB approval and the unexpected reluctance of staff nurses to participate in the study, data collection took 3 months. In addition, staff nurses reported that the acuity of the patients due to Covid-19 prevented them from completing the survey promptly.

Concerning data analysis, the researcher conducted an exploratory factor analysis on the Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ) (created by the researcher), a Pearson correlation between the results of the Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ) and The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) instruments, a Chi-square analysis and independent *t* teste were also conducted to compare the unit-based and centralized education groups on demographic variables. However, none of these analyses was mentioned in the proposal.

Lastly, there will be four chapters instead of five because the researcher decided to combine Chapters 3 and 4 due to similarities in the methods and results.

Organization of the Dissertation

In Chapters 2 and 3, the researcher explores the relationship between two staff development models (unit-based and centralized) and staff nurses' evaluation of their clinical educator, anxiety, and clinical reasoning. Finally, Chapter 4 summarizes all the methods and findings in the dissertation and the implications.

Dissemination Plan

Chapter 2 titled, **Influence of staff development model on staff nurses' evaluation of their clinical nurse educators,** will be submitted as a feature article to *The American Journal of* *Nursing (AJN)*. The AJN is the oldest and most esteemed nursing journal globally. It welcomes submissions such as evidence-based clinical application papers, original research, QI reports, and manuscripts on various clinical and professional topics.

Chapter 3 titled, **The effect of staff education on staff nurses' anxiety levels and clinical reasoning,** will be submitted as a feature article to *Nurse Education Today* which is a prominent international journal known for publishing high-quality original research, review and debates regarding inter-professional healthcare education and papers that contribute to evidencebased practice for educationalists worldwide.

The abstract will be submitted to the **12th Annual Nursing Research Symposium** at Montefiore Medical Center. This annual symposium allows nurses and other healthcare professionals to share their research, evidence-based practice, and quality improvement findings and experiences.

The abstract will also be submitted to the Sigma International Nursing Research Congress in 2024. Sigma is an international community of nurses dedicated to advancing knowledge, teaching, learning, and service by cultivating practice, education, and research communities. <u>https://www.sigmanursing.org/why-sigma/about-sigma</u>

References

- Coto, J., Restrepo, A., Cejas, I., & Prentiss, S. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on allied health professions. *PloS One*, *15*(10), e0241328.
- Cummings C, & McCaskey R. (1992). A model combining centralized and decentralized staff development. *Journal of Nursing Staff Development*, 8(1), 22-25.
- Lary, A., Borimnejad, L., & Mardani-Hamooleh, M. (2019). The impact of a stress management program on the stress response of nurses in neonatal intensive care units: A quasiexperimental study. *Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing*, *33*(2), 189–195.
- Lockhart, J. S. (2004). *Unit-based staff development for clinical nurses*. Pittsburgh, PA: Oncology Nursing Society.
- Lockhart, J. S., & Bryce, J. (1996). A comprehensive plan to meet the unit-based education needs of nurses from several specialty units. *Journal of Nursing Staff Development*, *12*(3), 135-138.
- Quang, L. N., Kien, N. T., Anh, P. N., Anh, D. T. V., Nghi, T. D. B., Lan, P. P., Anh, N. T., Son, N. V., & Lieu, N. T. T. (2021). The level of expression of anxiety and depression in clinical health care workers during the COVID-19 outbreak in 2 hospitals in Hanoi, Vietnam. *Health Services Insights*, 14 1–7.
- Sheriff R, & Banks A. (2001). Integrating centralized and decentralized organization structures:
 An education and development model. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 17(2), 71-77.
- Topley D. (2009). Staff development story. A "learn on the run" program for nurses in the intensive care unit. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 25(6), 321–323.

Witter, J. (2012). Mentoring of medical surgical nurses, assessment of patients, clinical

decision-making, cultural competency, commitment to professional nursing standards, positive feelings about nursing at this hospital, and willingness to remain in the nursing profession.

Dowling College

- Wu, M., Yang, J., Liu, L., & Ye, B. (2016). An investigation of factors influencing nurses' clinical decision-making skills. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 38(8), 974–991.
- Zuo, L., & Miller Juvé, A. (2021). Transitioning to a new era: Future directions for staff development during COVID-19. *Medical Education*, 55(1), 104–107.

Chapter 2

Influence of Staff Development Models on Staff Nurses'

Evaluation of their Clinical Nurse Educators

In the 1920s, organized orientation classes for nurses began, and senior nurses were responsible for orienting new nurses (Leslie & Churilla, 1998). Education sessions were provided for nurses in service, an activity that came to be called "in-service education" (Kelly, 1992). Most nursing programs were hospital-based diploma programs, and the educated nurses remained in the institution's employment after graduation. Because these nurses were familiar with the hospital routines, they transitioned into practice effortlessly (Leslie & Churilla, 1998). After the closing of hospital-based diploma programs, there was an enhanced demand for inservice education on hospital-specific routines and policies (Donley, 1994). During the 1960s, the nursing profession continued to grow, and the complexities of nursing increased significantly, requiring additional in-service education; hence, centralized staff development departments were established to meet nurses' education needs. The American Nurses Association (ANA) published Guidelines for Staff Development in 1976, which gave direction and guidance to nurse educators responsible for staff development. In 1978, the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH) required hospitals to establish a designated staff position for coordinating and overseeing staff development activities (Kelly, 1992). In the 1980s, the role of nursing staff development was well-defined, and the National Nursing Staff Development Organization (NNSDO) was formed. The NNSDO provides nurses with the opportunity to network and share ideas. In addition, during this time, the Journal of Nursing Staff Development was used to share this knowledge (Kelly, 1992).

Customarily, in a healthcare setting, staff development departments of nursing are either

decentralized or centralized (Cummings & McCaskey 1992). Staff development programs include measures to promote employee empowerment and competency to undertake their tasks more effectively, thus helping the organization achieve its goals. Because of the increasingly complex healthcare system and the prolonged life expectancies for patients with chronic illnesses, organizational change efforts have become a catalyst to decisively examine hospital education and development departments' structures (Sheriff & Banks, 2001). No one solution suits all organizations, so nurse leaders must create systems that fit the unique needs of their organization and staff. Since 1992, three staff development models have been used in healthcare settings: centralized, decentralized, and unit-based education.

Literature Review

A literature review investigated research conducted on staff development models, unitbased and centralized education, and their effect on staff nurses in the inpatient setting while identifying gaps and needs for future research. This review's focus was broad, addressing various strategies to educate staff nurses from diverse environments and specialties. A search of CINAHL, PubMed, and MEDLINE databases was conducted. A comprehensive search strategy was conducted using CINAHL and PubMed when the previous search yielded minimal results on the two staff development models. The search with a timeline from 1970-2022 identified studies that implemented an educational program and measured various outcome variables related to staff nurses and nursing students or measured the effect of mentoring and precepting on novice nurses and nursing students. Examples of search terms used were "unit-based," "unit-based education and staff nurses," "centralized education and staff nurses," "staff development and unit-based," "educating staff nurses," "staff development and nursing," and "centralized education," to name a few. A rigorous search of the literature revealed that , many studies were

published decades ago and few were published within the three to five years of 2022. This finding solidified the need to investigate the two staff development models and their effect on staff nurses.

Centralized Staff Development

The American Nurses Association (1978) defined centralized staff development as an organizational approach in which a central nursing administrative authority is vested with the significant responsibility of meeting the learning needs of the nursing staff. All clinical educators report to this authority in this model even though they are assigned to different clinical areas. This structure delivers consistent content and teaching methods (del Bueno, 1976). In addition, centralized education meets generalized learning needs and provides nursing departments with a universal orientation (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). Functions of centralized educators include conducting general nursing orientation and coordinating and implementing intravenous and blood transfusion therapy courses, physical assessment courses, mandatory reviews, professional update programs, and universal workshops and conferences (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). An example of a centralized staff development model is the Montefiore Learning Network at Montefiore Health System in New York City.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Centralized Staff Development

The advantage of having a centralized education department is maintaining control of all department functions, even though this concept may inhibit the creativity of the educators (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). Inhibiting creativity or reducing the educator's independence can be problematic and result in dissatisfied educators. Even though lines of authority are clearly defined in a centralized education environment, there may be conflicts among educators regarding who is responsible for learning needs that may fall into general educational and

organizational goals (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). When the education department focuses on centralized classes, such as new employee orientation, CPR training, continuing education seminars, and core classes covering nursing principles and healthcare techniques, it is easy for the educators from the centralized units to lose contact with educators from the decentralized department regarding assigned functions. This can lead to pointless replication of services with different education departments researching and developing the same class while the education department prepares a seminar on that subject (Haggard, 1984).

Decentralized Staff Development

Decentralized staff development is an organizational methodology in which nursing leadership personnel in assigned clinical areas are responsible for meeting the learning needs of the nursing staff within their areas (American Nurses Association, 1978: Haggard, 1984). The functions of the decentralized educators are addressing specialized learning needs, providing follow-up orientation on the units, participating in general education, and coordinating speciality orientation for their designated clinical units (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). The decentralized educators report directly to the nursing administrator of their clinical area and have no formal relationship with the centralized educators and their administrators (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). Decentralization should be a constructive, growth-producing experience, and for the model to be effective, constant evaluation of the system and its outcomes is necessary.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Decentralized Staff Development

Some benefits of decentralized staff development include the immediate recognition of education needs at the local level, educational flexibility, an opportunity for the educator to develop and maintain specialized expertise, and support for innovation and creativity (del Bueno,

1976). On the other hand, the disadvantages include the lack of unified educational policies and procedures, which can cause confusion among hospital staff, diminished communication among educators, loss of support for the educator from the organization, and the likelihood of fragmentation and polarization (del Bueno, 1976).

Unit-Based Education

Unit-based education, a form of decentralized staff development, is a sustainable alternative to the centralized staff development of the 1980s. The ANA (1994) validated this approach by stating that professional nurses must take responsibility for their professional development (Leslie & Churilla, 1998). The partnership of the clinical nurse manager and clinical nurse educator operationalizes unit-based education. Healthcare has evolved to be technology-driven and specialized. A unit-based educator can assist nurses with their patients by supporting them through education to provide safe patient care on their inpatient units (Topley, 2009). Unit-based educators offer personal educational programs tailored to individual nurses' needs rather than wide-ranging education programs (Topley, 2009). They aim to meet the nursing staff's continuing educational needs and encourage professional growth and development (Leslie & Churilla, 1998). The responsibilities associated with assuming a unit-based educator's role differ among healthcare organizations (Lockhart, 2006). For example, a designated nurse or a group of nurses on an inpatient unit may assume staff education activities in some healthcare institutions. Regardless of the method, it is essential to understand that the unit-based educator's primary role may include determining the staff's learning needs, coordinating and developing an overall education plan, implementing it, and evaluating its effectiveness (Lockhart, 2006).

Monforto et al., (2020) aimed to use a quality improvement project to regulate core

content applicable to all critical care areas. The authors found that the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine endorsed the need for new and experienced nurses to master the complexities of care and advanced technology so they will be able to contribute decisively on teams, understand health policy, analyze information to make critical decisions and support the well-being of everyone. To achieve this goal, nurse educators can actively engage new-to-practice nurses and experienced nurses in orientation programs designed to transfer knowledge and skills needed to provide bedside care to patients (Monforto et al., 2020). The authors also mentioned that unit leadership perceived unit-based education as the desired method to help newly hired nurses become skilled clinicians, enabling them to learn the skills and culture of the unit where they worked.

Unit-based education is important for nurses working night shifts and weekends. For example, Sievers et al, (2012) recognized the need for accurate assessment of patients' skin upon admission and developed a program of skin group members. At this institution, the role of the unit-based clinical nurse specialist (CNS) included assisting staff nurses in identifying wounds and developing care plans for treating pressure ulcers and skin tears. These unit-based CNSs worked Monday through Friday during business hours only, and because of this standard, some patients were not being seen promptly. However, results indicated that with the assistance of the skin group members, the unit-based educator CNS, and the tools developed by the skin group, nursing staff could get skin and wound care questions answered regardless of the day or shift. In this study, the CNS functioned as a unit-based educator and directed the skin group members to provide education regarding pressure ulcer prevention and care on the weekends. This example illustrates the value of having a dedicated educator for the inpatient unit.

A pilot study by Disher et al. (2014) examined the effects of a unit-based, high-fidelity simulation initiative where nurses were assessed on identifying and managing deteriorating patients. The authors recognized that nurses must be trained effectively to identify and respond appropriately, contributing to positive patient outcomes. Results indicated that knowledge scores improved significantly after education compared with before education. In addition, the authors embraced the use of unit-based, high-fidelity simulation as a valuable teaching method for staff nurses at the bedside.

Unit-based education and decentralized staff development have slight differences. The concept of decentralization is the process of "flattening out" the hierarchy so that one layer of management (supervisor) is removed. The head nurse in each department assumes 24-hour responsibility for every facet of unit operation (Haggard, 1984). Decentralization also provides individual practitioners additional autonomy and empowers each unit to set its practice. Unit-based education, however, focuses on the learning needs of staff nurses at the unit level. An educator is assigned to that unit as the source of information, mentorship, and support. Thus, unit-based educators are competent nurses assigned to meet bedside staff nurses' educational and clinical needs. The unit-based educators' existence in inpatient units allows them to capitalize on spontaneous teachable moments (Roshotte & Thomas, 2002) and promotes a safety culture for patients and staff (Foisy, 2012). In addition, unit-based educators have years of experience, are highly proficient in nursing practice, and endorse professional growth among nurses (Lockhart, 2004; Lockhart & Bryce, 1996).

Advantages and Disadvantages of Unit-based Education

Unit-based education is an essential concept that aids in the educational development of staff nurses at the unit level. As with most educational approaches, there are advantages and

disadvantages. One advantage of unit-based education is that it provides one-on-one sessions with a nurse educator. Nurses can ask questions in these smaller in-service groups and receive timely feedback. Another advantage is the nurse educator's accessibility to staff nurses' especially when patients' urgent care is in play. In addition, unit-based educators have some autonomy, taking the lead in planning unit-based skills fairs and developing orientation folders for their specific units (Siehoff, 2003). Disadvantages of unit-based education may be that educators don't always have timely access to new clinical information, and there is confusion and disagreement over which educators are responsible for meeting identified learning needs. In addition, they can become overwhelmed when there is an influx of new staff on the unit. Siehoff (2003) also reported that challenges unit-based educators experience includes identifying learning needs, motivating staff to attend educational offerings, improving presentation skills, and lacking advanced warning about policy and procedural changes.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework used to guide this study on unit-based education is Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* (1980). Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* is practical and easy to apply when designing continuing education activities for staff nurses (Textor & Porock, 2006). Knowles has explored and written on adult learning principles and described andragogy as the art and science of facilitating learning in adults. Andragogy is derived from the Greek word "man," which Knowles used in contrast to "pedagogy," helping children learn. Adult Learning Theory expands on the concept of the needs of the learner. It focuses on selfdirected learning involving adults being in charge of their learning (Mitchell, 2005). Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* in staff education enables the development of competencies, knowledge, and abilities and supports personnel to do the work required and accomplish the

organization's meaningful goals (Knowles, Holton, & Swanson, 2020). Knowles (1980) developed six assumptions that support the concept that adults learn best when they (1) know the reason they should learn something; (2) are self-directed; (3) can use what they have learned; (4) are motivated; (5) can draw from experience; and (6) use a task, problem, or lifecentered approach.

The Knowles Adult Learning Theory supports unit-based education because staff nurses are significant stakeholders in building and sustaining education programs. Adults learn best when they feel their needs are heard and addressed (Holmes, 1989). Therefore, assessing and analyzing their needs prepares them for their required tasks and helps identify knowledge and skill gaps. These actions provide an essential framework for the strategic provision of suitable educational interventions (Knowles, 1980; O'Shea & Spike, 2005). Therefore, Knowles's Adult Learning Theory is appropriate to guide unit-based education. According to the theory, the learning environment should include acceptance, respect, support, and mutual learning that permits personal autonomy (Textor and Porock, 2006). A unit-based education model is consistent with these concepts. Also, the theory requires educational techniques that emphasize the practical application of the information and actively engage the learners in the learning process. However, with a centralized staff development model, the education of staff nurses occurs on a broader scale. In centralized staff development, nurse educators control the learning environment and dissemination of content with minimal input from staff nurses. Even though centralized education does not preclude active learning, its structure does inhibit staff nurses from interacting with the centralized educator more frequently to practice a skill or engage in simulations.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to compare the perceptions of nurses who work on hospital units that used unit-based or centralized staff development models with respect to their evaluations of their clinical educators.

Method

Design

A descriptive comparative, cross-sectional, intact group design was used. The following research questions were addressed:

Research Question 1:

Are nurses who practice in unit-based education environments more likely to report that their instructors' methods are consistent with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* six assumptions than nurses who practice in centralized education environments?

Research Question 2:

Are nurses who practice in unit-based education environments more likely to report that their instructors are better clinical teachers than nurses who practice in centralized education environments?

Study Participants

Convenience sampling was used to recruit staff nurses from preselected units from a tertiary care medical center, Montefiore Medical Center Moses and Weiler Campuses, and the Children's Hospital at Montefiore (CHAM) in the Bronx, New York. The nurses were recruited from a target sample of 198 staff nurses from two adult medical-surgical units, one pediatric medical-surgical unit, and one adult emergency department (E.D.). The unit-based units were the emergency room at the Weiler campus and a pediatric unit at the CHAM) campus. Both centralized units were from the Moses campus.

The inclusion criteria for this study were (1) registered nurses who worked full and parttime, day and night shifts, (2) who had more than 3 months of experience, (3) who worked in preselected medical-surgical or emergency departments, and (4) who have been exposed to either centralized or unit-based education.

The exclusion criteria for this study were personnel who were not registered nurses and nurses who worked per-diem, in the float pool, or from an agency. Also excluded were nurses who worked in other settings that were not medical-surgical or emergency departments and nurses on disability or leaves of absence.

Power analyses by G-Power 3.1 based on a *t* test between independent groups with a medium effect size of .50, power of .85, and a two-tailed probability of .05 resulted in a sample size of 146. The researcher targeted a sample of 150 study participants. There were two groups in the study representing four different units. Two units exposed to unit-based educators, and two units exposed to the Learning Network (centralized) clinical educators.

Human Subjects Protection

Before data collection was initiated, preliminary approval was received from the hospital's Director of Research and Evidence-Based Practice (see Appendix A). Next, Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was granted from Teachers College and Montefiore Medical Center. Once IRB approval was given, the data collection process was initiated. Finally, written informed consent (see Appendix B) was obtained from each participant before

they proceeded to answer the study survey.

Study Setting

The study was conducted on four units in Montefiore Medical Center, a prominent academic and teaching hospital in the Bronx, New York. The units were the emergency department at the Weiler campus, two adult medical-surgical units at the Moses campus, and one pediatric medical-surgical unit at The Children's Hospital at Montefiore (CHAM) located on the Moses campus. Staff development is handled by clinical educators who are either unitbased or from the Learning Network, which represents centralized education.

Instruments

A demographic questionnaire, the Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ), and the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) comprised the instruments for the study.

Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire (see Appendix C) assessed age, gender, race/ethnicity, education level, years as a nurse, years at Montefiore Medical Center, years in the unit they are currently working on, shift worked, area of practice, interaction with a clinical educator, and whether they perceived that a unit-based clinical educator or an educator from the Learning Network serves their unit.

Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ)

The Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ) (see Appendix D) measured nurses' perceptions of the extent to which their clinical educators' methods were consistent with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. The researcher developed this instrument after an extensive search of the literature, which revealed no instrument

measuring nurses' perception of their clinical educators based on Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. Initially, 54 items were created, some based on Conti's (2004) Principles of Adult Learning Scale concepts. Other items were based on Zinn's (2004) Philosophy of Adult Education Inventory (PAEI).

Conti and Zinn's scales were not used in this current study because, first, the Principles of Adult Learning Scale identified actions that teachers of adults might do in a classroom. The Philosophy of Adult Education Inventory (PAEI) was developed to assist adult educators in identifying their philosophy of education and comparing it with other disciplines in the field of adult education. Therefore, both scales were designed for educators, not for people evaluating educators. However, the scales provided useful concepts for constructing a scale for evaluating educators.

Content validity was attained with the help of two experts in adult learning from a graduate school of education who rated how well the items represent Knowles's assumptions. The experts agreed on 42 items; 33 were chosen, including two revised ones for the final questionnaire. The final version of the survey consisted of 33 items, each describing a clinical educator's behavior. Each item was written to represent one of Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* assumptions. For example, "The clinical educator promotes independence regarding your learning," represents Knowles's assumptions that "adults are self-directed." The item "Your clinical educator stimulates your interest in the topic being presented," represents Knowles's assumption that "adults are motivated to learn."

The researcher also created five reverse-scored items to identify acquiescence bias by the participants. Participants were asked to rate their clinical educators on a 5-point

Likert-type scale (1 = *strongly disagree* to 5 = *strongly agree*). The Cronbach's alpha for the CEEQ was .97, which included the reverse-coded items.

Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI)

The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) (see Appendix E), developed by Knox and Morgan (1985), measured staff nurses' perceptions of their current clinical educator. The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) was designed to determine the degree to which respondents felt that clinical nursing faculty demonstrated effective teaching characteristics (Knox & Morgan, 1985).

The NCTEI contains 47 items with higher scores indicating more perceived effectiveness of the clinical educator. There are no reverse-scored questions. The total score is the sum of all item scores. Participants were asked to rate each item on a 7-point Likert-type scale ($1 = not \ descriptive$ to $7 = very \ descriptive$) according to its perceived importance. The items, divided into five categories, evolved from a former study assessing students' perceptions of clinical teacher effectiveness (Knox & Morgan, 1985) and an extensive literature review.

The instrument was tested for internal consistency reliability and test-retest reliability. Internal consistency reliability estimates were established for each of the five categories of teacher characteristics with reliability coefficients, $\alpha = .89$ for Teaching, $\alpha = .84$ for Nursing Competence, $\alpha = .82$ for Evaluation, $\alpha = .86$ for Interpersonal Relationship, and $\alpha = .83$ for Personality. Morgan and Knox (1987) stated that the validity of this instrument was difficult to assess because of the lack of a clear definition of effective teaching and an even more imprecise concept regarding effective clinical teaching. Therefore, they used two methods to measure content validity. First, corresponding traits were found in the literature regarding each teacher's behavior described by students. Second, the importance of items was determined by all groups generally involved in teacher evaluation: students, peers, and graduates. The entire faculty, students, and graduates highly rated all items.

For this study, the instrument's instructions were modified, requesting staff nurses to evaluate their current clinical educator's behaviors rather than rating the best and worst clinical educator they had in nursing school. Cronbach's alpha for this study was.98.

The Digital Repository Librarian from the University of British Columbia granted permission (See Appendix I) to use the NCTEI. This instrument is a licensed Attribution-Noncommercial-Share Alike 3.0 Unported (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0), which can be shared and adapted if attribution to the original is provided.

Procedure

Data were collected by a self-administered questionnaire. Data collection (was conducted from the first week of September 2022 to the first week of December 2022, and participants were asked to dedicate about 30 minutes to complete the survey through Qualtrics. Prospective participants were recruited through Outlook Web Access, the organization's email management system, flyers, and unit huddles. In addition, the researcher visited each unit weekly to remind the staff nurses to fill out the survey and answer any questions. The email (see Appendix E) described the study, its purpose, and the consent (see Appendix B). Participants were informed that they had the right not to participate in the research and there would be minimal risk in participating. In the consent form, participants were informed that the study did not benefit the participants involved; however, subsequent staff nurses and the nursing profession may benefit from the findings.

Participants were told at the beginning of the survey that they could enter a lottery to win a \$50, \$100, or \$150 Amazon gift card after completing the survey, and the winners would be

notified via email. At the end of the survey, participants were directed to a link to a different survey where they would enter their email addresses if they were interested in the lottery. The email addresses were not connected to the participants' answers and were destroyed after all winners were selected.

At the end of data collection, the lottery winners were selected using the randomization technique in Excel. Next, the researcher emailed the winners and requested a response to the initial email for further identification. Once the nurses responded to the researcher, instructions were sent with codes to access the Amazon gift cards.

Data analyses

The researcher utilized SPSS (version 29) statistical software to analyze the collected data. A total of 118 participants began the survey, and 86 nurses completed the survey. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize sample characteristics and scores on the measures of staff nurses' evaluations of their clinical educators. Frequencies and percentages were used to summarize nominal data; means and standard deviations were used to summarize continuous data. Differences between the group responses for independent sample comparisons were examined using *t* tests. Chi-square analyses were conducted to compare the groups on categorical variables. In addition, a factor analysis was conducted on the CEEQ questionnaire developed by the researcher, and Pearson's correlation analysis between the results of the two surveys, the CEEQ and the NCTEI, was also conducted.

Results

Description of the Sample

There were two groups in the study representing four different units. Group 1 represented nurses from two units exposed to unit-based educators, a pediatric and emergency

room unit, and Group 2 represented nurses from two medical-surgical units exposed to centralized educators. There were 198 nurses on the four units. Of the 198 staff nurses to whom recruitment emails were sent, 137 logged on to the survey site, yielding a response rate of 69%. Of 137 who logged on to the site, 118 (86.1%) responded to at least some items on the survey, while 19 (16%) nurses logged on to the site and did not continue. Out of the 118 nurses who started the survey, 86 completed the entire survey for a completion rate of 73%. Group 1, which included nurses from the two units exposed to unit-based educators, had 48 completed and 22 incomplete surveys. Group 2, which included nurses from the two units exposed to centralized educators, had 38 completed and ten incomplete surveys. However, the sample response for each scale differed due to missing data from participants who started the survey and stopped along the way (see Table 2.1). The power analyses for the new sample size were calculated using G-Power 3.1 with a resulting power of .62 for a .50 medium effect size and alpha .05 with groups n = 38 and n = 48.

The majority of respondents (see Table 2.2) (83.05%) were female, a majority (60.54%) were in the age range of 23—36, and 39% were in the age range of 37 or older. In addition, most nurses (42.4%) had been employed at Montefiore Medical Center for 5 to 10 years, and 23% for 10-plus years. Regarding education level, 71.2% were baccalaureate prepared, 20.3% master prepared, and 3% were doctorally prepared. Nurses from Group 1 represented 59.32% of the sample, and Group 2 comprised 40.68%. Most nurses worked-the day shift (61.86%). Forty percent of the nurses interacted with their clinical educator from about once to several times a week. Interactions several times monthly were reported by about 27%, and several times yearly were reported by 18%.

Nurses were asked to report if their clinical educator was either unit-based or

centralized (from the Learning Network). The researcher found that 10 out of the 77 nurses from units with a unit-based educator incorrectly reported that they were from units with a centralized educator. Two nurses from the units with a centralized educator incorrectly reported that they were from units with a unit-based educator. Fifteen nurses who stated they were unsure what type of educator served their units were from units with centralized educators. Lastly, 77 staff nurses from units with a unit-based educator and 41 from units with a centralized educator participated in the study to some degree.

Comparison of Groups on Demographic Variables

Chi-square analyses showed no significant differences between groups on gender, ethnicity, shift worked, and level of education (see Table 2.3). However, Chi-square analyses showed significant differences on how often staff nurses interacted with their clinical educator, how often in-service was offered by the clinical educator, area of practice, the specific unit the staff nurses worked on, and the type of clinical educator on the unit. Analyses showed that nurses on the unit-based units interacted with their staff educator more often and education sessions were offered more frequently than on centralized units. As expected, staff nurses in the unit-based group were more likely to be emergency room and pediatric nurses and working in the ER and on the pediatric unit while the staff nurses in the centralized groups were medical-surgical staff nurses working on medical-surgical units. In addition, the groups differed on the perception of what type of staff education model was offered with 96% of the unit-based nurses perceiving that they were on a unit-based floor, and 48% of the nurses in the centralized group perceiving they were on a centralized floor (see Table 2.3).

An independent samples *t* test showed that the groups did not differ in age t(74) = -1.48, p = .14; however, results_showed that nurses on the centralized units had worked longer

at Montefiore Medical Center t(116) = -2.39, p = .018, and had worked longer on their respective units t(116) = -2.69, p = .008 than nurses in unit-based education settings.

Psychometric Evaluation of the CEEQ

An exploratory factor analysis was conducted on the 33-item in CEEQ. The scree plot indicated that one or two factors were appropriate. Two factors accounted for 60.4% of the variance. A Varimax rotation of the two factors revealed that the first factor comprised 28 items loading at .40 or above. Based on the content of the items this factor was labeled Support (M = 102.38, SD = 2.93). The second factor comprising five reversed-scored items, was labeled Nonsupport because the items represented reverse coded versions of the Support items (M = 18.05, SD = 3.71). A second-factor analysis done with the Promax rotation revealed the same result regarding the number of the items loading on the first factor (28) and the five items loading on the second. The factors were correlated r = .549. Therefore, it was decided that the data were better represented by a single factor with a Cronbach's alpha for the 33 items of .95. The items of the scale relate to Knowles's theory because they addressed the six assumptions. For example, one of the items was: "The clinical educator helps solve the clinical problems nurses were having on the unit." This item assumes that adult learners are ready to learn and use a task, problem, or life-centered approach.

Correlation between the CEEQ and NCTEI

Pearson's correlation analysis indicated a strong, positive, and significant correlation between the Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ) and the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI) scales, r = .70, p = .001.

Research Questions

Research Question 1

To address the research question concerning staff nurses' perceptions of whether their clinical educators' methods were consistent with Malcolm Knowle's *Adult Learning Theory*, independent samples *t* tests were used. The 59 participants in the unit-based group (M = 119.76, SD = 19.62) compared to the 43 participants in the centralized group (M = 106.86, SD = 19.17) demonstrated significantly higher scores, t(100) = 3.31, p = .001, regarding nurses perception on the consistency of their instructors' methods with the adult learning theory.

Research Question 2

Research question 2 asked how effective staff nurses felt their clinical educators were at teaching. The 55 participants who represented the unit-based group (M = 250.5, SD = 70.34) compared to the 41 participants in the centralized group (M = 212.8, SD = 66.14) demonstrated significantly higher scores, t(94) = 2.66, p = .009, regarding how nurses perceived the effectiveness of their clinical instructors.

Discussion

This comparative study showed significant differences between staff nurses from the two staff development models regarding their perceptions of their clinical educator's teaching effectiveness and the consistency of their instructors' methods with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. In addition, the researcher developed CEEQ was significantly related to the NCTEI instrument, indicating support for the concurrent validity of the new measure.

Compared to nurses from units with centralized clinical educators, staff nurses with unit-based educators rated their clinical educators' teaching methods higher (i.e., more consistent with Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory* assumptions). These assumptions hold that adults learn best when they (1) know the reason they should learn something; (2) are self-directed; (3) can use what they have learned; (4) are motivated; (5) can draw from experience; and (6) use a task, problem, or life-centered approach.

However, some nurses from both groups were mistaken about the type of staff development model they had on their unit. The study findings were based on the actual type of staff education model on each unit and not on what the participants thought regarding the type of staff development model on their units. Participants on the centralized units were more confused even though they were assigned to their units and employed at the institution longer than the staff nurses on the unit-based units. These findings indicate that the two staff development models used at the institution where the study was conducted were not salient features to some of the staff nurses who participated in the study.

Knowles (1980) recognized that the role of the instructor was to be more of a facilitator than a traditional teacher. Knowles also implored educators to teach students by involving them in tasks and gaining their insights. For example, nurses on units with a unit-based educator scored higher on the item "the clinical educator promotes independence regarding your learning" and on the item "Your clinical educator identifies your strengths and limitations objectively." These findings are similar to those in a study by Lamont, Brunero, and Woods (2015), who showed that instructors in the clinical area facilitate student nurses to achieve their learning objectives and become active learners.

The researcher used the NCTEI instrument developed by Morgan and Knox (1987) to explore differences and commonalities in the perception of the clinical educators between the staff nurses from the two groups. The mean scores from the NCTEI scale were higher among nurses on the unit-based units on all sub-scale items. Li (1997) found that clinical teaching

behavior is a significant contributing factor to the quality of clinical learning experiences of student nurses. This study's results suggest clinical educators' teaching behaviors are important to staff nurses as well.

Limitations

There were some limitations to this study. The first issue was the study's cross-sectional design. A longitudinal design that follows nurses across time before and after the staff development model is instituted would be more sensitive to differences in the models. Secondly, nurses were not randomly assigned to different staff development models; therefore, selection bias could also have occurred. Another limitation was the difference in the type of units. The acuity of the units that represented unit-based education was higher than that of the units with centralized education. The ER, which was in the unit-based group, serves acutely ill patients who need immediate attention. The pediatric unit, which also was unit-based, serves a mix of acutely ill children and children with less severe conditions. The centralized units, however, were medical-surgical units generally caring for stable patients with chronic illnesses.

A convenience sample of nurses from four specifically selected acute care nursing units was recruited for the study, which could have introduced a sampling bias. In addition, the sample may not represent the general population of acute care nurses. The researcher anticipated a sample size of 150, but the final sample was 86. A post hoc power analysis using the sample size of 86 indicated a power of .62 to detect a significant result. This power was lower than the desired power of .85 because of the departure of staff nurses before and during data collection due to the Covid-19 pandemic. The study's response rate of 69% might have been improved if a gift card incentive had been provided to all participants rather than offering a lottery. In addition, the participants were given a self-administered questionnaire with 80 questions, which could take

up to 30 minutes, a possible explanation for why 51 staff nurses started but did not complete the survey and were excluded from the analyses. Finally, a limitation of this study was that the CEEQ was researcher-developed. Further research should be carried out on its reliability and validity in measuring staff nurses' evaluation of their clinical educators.

Implications

This study documented the value and importance of unit-based education. In addition, staff nurses rated unit-based educators more highly than educators working in a centralized system. Therefore, studies addressing staff nurses' educational needs in a centralized environment should be explored. In addition, experimental studies comparing unit-based and centralized education models and using a longitudinal multisite design could strengthen results and incorporate different nurses' perspectives. Furthermore, future research could explore whether unit-based education can improve other variables such as patient satisfaction, patient outcomes, length of stay, attrition, and medication errors. Additionally, research should explore the learning needs of staff nurses from different staff development models.

The institution where the study was conducted is a large tertiary hospital in New York City comprising multiple inpatient units. Therefore, having a unit-based educator on each unit could have significant financial implications. This should be investigated to address the costbenefit analysis of different staff development models.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the results of this study showed that the nurses differed on their evaluations of their clinical educators, with unit-based education perceived as more effective than centralized education. However, the centralized model meets important needs of the organization. A centralized staff development model is essential in this study's healthcare facility

because it conducts onboarding new staff nurses, is involved in policymaking and dissemination, and organizes conferences regarding overarching issues relating to nurses, such as diversity, leadership, and research. In addition, this centralized model offers staff education to nurses on assigned units that do not have a unit-based educator. However, compared to the unit-based education model, this function of the centralized education model limits interaction between clinical educators and staff nurses due to the other responsibilities of the centralized educators.

This research begins to address the gaps in the literature, which contains little research on staff development models. The two staff development models discussed in this study were perceived differently among staff nurses. In addition, staff nurses exposed to the unit-based education model felt more supported by their clinical educators. This suggests that unit-based education is effective in delivering education and supporting staff nurses on the inpatient units.

Finally, this study's findings indicated that Malcolm Knowles's adult learning theory could guide the development of competencies, knowledge, and abilities necessary to improve staff nurses' practices (Knowles, Holton, & Swanson, 2020).

References

- American Nurses Association. (1978). Guidelines for staff development, Kansas City, MO: American Nurses Association.
- American Nurses Association. (1994). Standards for nursing professional development: Continuing education and staff development. Washington, DC
- Conti, G. J. (2004). Identifying your teaching style. *Adult learning methods: A guide for effective instruction*. (3rd ed., pp. 75-91). Krieger Press.
- Cummings C, & McCaskey R. (1992). A model combining centralized and decentralized staff development. *Journal of Nursing Staff Development*, 8(1), 22-25.
- del Bueno DJ. (1977). The delicate art of nursing supervision and leadership. What can nursing service expect from the in-service department? *Nursing Digest*, 5, 36-37.
- Disher, J., Burgum, A., Desai, A., Fallon, C., Hart, P., Aduddell, K. & (2014). The effect of unit-based simulation on nurses' identification of deteriorating patients. *Journal for Nurses in Professional Development, 30* (1), 21-28.
- Donley, R. (1994). Health care reform: Implications for staff development. *Nursing Economics*, 12 (2), 71-74.
- Foisy, K. (2012). Implementing evidence-based practice helps nursing staff seeking magnet status become a better team. *Advance for Nurses*, *12*(20), 2-6.
- Haggard, A. (1984). Decentralized staff development. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, *15*(3), 90-92.
- Holmes, S.A. (1989) Learning needs assessment- Part 1. *Journal of Staff Development*, 5(2), 91-93.
- Kelly, K.J. (1992). Nursing staff development: Current competence, future focus. Philadelphia:

Lippincott.

- Knowles, M. S. (1980). *The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy: Revised and updates*. Adult Education.
- Knowles, M. S., Holton III, E. F., Swanson, R. A., & Robinson, P. A. (2020). *The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development.* Routledge.
- Knox, J.E. & Mogan, J. (1985). Important clinical teacher behaviors as perceived by university nursing faculty, students, and graduates. *Journal of Advance Nursing*, *10*, 25-30.
- Lamont, S., Brunero, S., & Woods, K. P. (2015). Satisfaction with clinical placement The perspective of nursing students from multiple universities. *Collegian*, 22(1), 125-133.
- Lee, W.-S. (Christina), Cholowski, K., & Williams, A. K. (2002). Nursing students' and clinical educators' perceptions of characteristics of effective clinical educators in an Australian university school of nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *39*(5), 412–420.
- Leslie, M. L., & Churilla, P. G. (1998). Unit-based education: meeting the needs of staff nurses in the'90s. *Head and Neck Nursing: Official Journal of the Society of Otorhinolaryngology and Head-neck Nurses*, *16*(2), 12-14.
- Li Kuen, M. (1997). Perceptions of effective clinical teaching behaviors in a hospital-based nurse training program. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *26*(6), 1252-1261.
- Lockhart, J. (2006). Creating an educational plan that meets the learning needs of nursing staff. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *10* (2), 257-266.
- Lockhart, J. S., & Bryce, J. (1996). A comprehensive plan to meet the unit-based education needs of nurses from several specialty units. *Journal of Nursing Staff Development*, *12*(3), 135-138.

Mitchell, M. L., & Courtney, M. (2005). Improving transfer from the intensive care unit:

The development, implementation, and evaluation of a brochure based on Knowles' Adult Learning Theory. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, *11*(6), 257–268.

- Monforto, K., Perkel, M., Rust, D., Wildes, R., King, K., & Lebet, R. (2020). Outcome-focused critical care orientation program: From unit based to centralized. *Critical Care Nurse*, 40(4), 54–64.
- Mogan, J., & Knox, J. E. (1987). Characteristics of 'best' and 'worst' clinical teachers as perceived by university nursing faculty and students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *12*(3), 331-337.
- O'Shea, C., & Spike, N. (2005). Learning needs analysis-developing a new tool for general practice training. *Australian Family Physician*, *34*(12 Suppl).
- Sheriff R, & Banks A. (2001). Integrating centralized and decentralized organization structures: An education and development model. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 17(2), 71-77.
- Sievers, Beth, R.N., C.N.S., Shones, K., R.N., Klein, K., R.N., Anderson, R., R.N., Mickow, A., R.N., & Kaplan, M., R.N. (2012). Benefits of a unit-based skincare group. *The Journal* of Continuing Education in Nursing, 43(7), 325-329.
- Textor, L. & Porock, D. (2006). The pain management knowledge of nurses practicing in a rural midwest retirement community. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development, 22* (6), 307-312.
- Topley D. (2009). Staff development story. A "learn on the run" program for nurses in the intensive care unit. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 25(6), 321–323.
- Zinn, L. L. (2004). *Exploring your philosophical orientation*. *Adult learning methods: A guide for effective instruction*. (3rd ed., pp. 39-74). Krieger Press.

Table 2. 1

Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire and The Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory Sample Response Explained

Scale	М	SD	Min	Max	Alpha	Ν	Missing
CEEQ	120.44	23.96	33	165	.95	102	16
NCTEI	242.39	65.06	47	329	.98	96	22

Table 2.2

Demographics Characteristics of Staff Nurses Sample

					Missing
	N	%	M	SD	Data
Baseline Characteristics					%
	76		35.46	10.63	(35.5)
Age					
Gender					(13.9)
Female	e 98	71.5			
Male	e 17	12.4			
Nonbinary	y 1	0.7			
Prefer not to say	/ 2	1.5			
Have you been an RN for more than 3					
months?					

Baseline Characteristics	Ν	%	Μ	SD	Missing
					Data %
Ethnicity					
Asian	24	17.5			
Black or African American	24	17.5			
Hispanic or Latino/a/x or Spanish origin,					
including Cuban or Puerto Rican					
	21	15.3			
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	2	1.46			
White	27	19.7			
Other	20	28.5			
How long have you been employed at			0.01	10.0	(12.00())
Montefiore Medical Center?			8.31	10.3	(13.9%)
Less than 1 year	23	16.8			
2 to 5 years	18	13.1			
6 to 10 years	50	36.5			

Baseline Characteristics	N	%	Μ	SD	Missing
					Data %
10 plus years	27	19.7			
What is your highest education level?					(13.9%)
Associate degree	6	4.4			
Bachelor's degree	84	61.3			
Master's Degree	24	17.5			
Doctorate	3	2.2			
Prefer not to answer	1	0.7			
What shift do you work regularly?					(13.9)
Day	73	53.3			
Night	45	32.8			
How long in months/years have you worked on your current unit?			8.31	10.3	(13.9)
About how often do you interact with a					
clinical educator?					(13.9)

Baseline Characteristics	Ν	%	Μ	SD	Missing
					Data %
Daily	17	12.4			
About several times a week	26	19.0			
About once a week	22	16.1			
About several times a month	9	6.6			
About once a month	13	9.5			
About once every three months	10	7.3			
Several times a year	13	9.5			
Once a year	4	2.9			
Less than once a year	3	2.9			
How often does the clinical educator offer					
in-service on your unit?					(13.9)
		- -			

Daily 13 9.5

Baseline Characteristics	Ν	%	Μ	SD	Missing
					Data %
About several times a week	20	14.6			
About once a week	10	7.3			
About several times a month	19	13.9			
About once a month	17	12.4			
About once every three months	14	10.2			
Several times a year	16	11.7			
Once a year	6	4.4			
Less than once a year	3	2.2			
Which type of educator serves your unit?					(13.9)
Unit-base educator	77	56.2			
Learning Network faculty	41	29.9			

Variable	Unit-l	Unit-based		tralized	Total				
	N	%	N	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
Gender							3	.48	2.45
Female	56	80	42	87.5	98	83.1			
Male	11	15.7	6	12.5	17	14.4			
Ethnicity							12	.26	14.52
American									
Indian or	6	1.4	4	0.0	10	0.8			
Alaskan	6	1.4	4	0.0	10	0.8			
Native									
Asian	17	24.3	7	14.6	24	20.3			
Black or									
African	17	24.3	7	14.6	24	20.3			
American									
Hispanic or									
Latino/a/x or									
Spanish,	10	14.3	11	22.9	21	17.8			
including	10	11.5		22.9	21	17.0			
Cuban or									
Puerto Rican									

Table 2.3 Crosstabulation of Sample Demographics and Staff Development Groups

Variable		Unit-Based		Cent	ralized	Total				
	-	N	%	N	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
	Mexican or									
	Mexican American,	0	0	0	0	0	0			
	Chicano/a/x									
	White	15	21.4	12	25.0	27	22.9			
	Some other									
	race, ethnicity,	1	1.4	3	6.3	4	3.4			
	or origin,	I	1.4	5	0.5	т	Э.т			
	please specify									
	I prefer not to	6	8.6	4	8.3	10	8.5			
	answer									
Shift								12	.61	.25
worked										
	Day	42	60	31	64.6	73	61.9			
	Night	28	40	17	35.4	45	38.1			
Education								4	00	1.15
level								4	.88	1.13
	Associate									
	Degree	4	5.7	2	4.2	6	5.1			

Variable	Unit-ba	Unit-based		tralized	Т	otal			
	N	%	N	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
Diploma									
Nursing	g 0	0	0	0	0	0			
Degree	;								
Bachelor's	48	68.6	36	75.0	84	71.2			
degree		00.0	50	, 5.0	01	, 1.2			
Master's	15	21.4	9	18.8	24	20.3			
Degree			-						
Doctorate	2	2.9	1	2.1	3	2.5			
Prefer not to	1	1.4	0	0.0	1	0.8			
answer			0		-				
Area of							3	<.001	114.89
practice							-		
Adult Medical-	. 0	0.0	45	93.8	45	38.1			
Surgical									
Pediatric	;								
Medical	- 22	31.4	0	0.0	22	18.6			
Surgical	l								
Emergency	47	67.1	0	0.0	47	39.8			
Room		0,11	0	0.0	.,	2710			
Others	s 1	1.4	3	6.3	4	3.4			
(specify)		1.1	5	0.0	ſ	2.1			

Variable	Unit-	Unit-based		Centralized		otal			
	N	%	N	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
Specific									
Unit							3	<.001	118.0
worked on									
Cham 8	23	32.9	0	0.0	23	19.5			
ED	47	67.1	0	0.0	47	39.8			
NW6	0	0.0	25	52.1	25	21.2			
NW8	0	0.0	23	47.9	23	19.5			
Interaction									
with							8	<.001	65.98
Clinical							0	~.001	05.78
educator									
Daily	17	24.3	0	0.0	17	14.4			
About several	24	34.3	2	4.2	26	22.0			
times a week		54.5	2	7.2	20	22.0			
About once a	18	25.7	4	8.3	22	18.6			
week		23.1	7	0.5		10.0			
About several	4	5.7	5	10.4	9	7.6			
times a month		5.7	5	10.1	,	,.0			
About once a									
month	4	5.7	9	18.8	13	11.0			

Variable		Unit-ł	oased	Cent	ralized	Total				
	-	N	%	Ν	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
	About once									
	every three	0	0.0	10	20.8	10	8.5			
	months									
	Several times a	2	2.9	11	22.9	13	11.0			
	year	2	2.9	11	22.9	15	11.0			
	Once a year	1	1.4	3	6.3	4	3.4			
	Less than once	0	0.0	4	8.3	4	3.4			
	a year	Ū	0.0	7	0.5	Т	5.4			
Type of										
educator								2	<.001	70.43
on unit										
	Centralized	2	2.9	23	47.9	25	21.2			
	Unit-based	67	95.7	10	20.8	77	65.3			
	Not sure	1	1.4	15	31.3	16	13.6			
Frequency										
of in-								8	<.001	57 33
service on								0	\$.001	57.55
unit										
	Daily	13	18.6	0	0.0	13	11.0			
	About several	18	25.7	2	4.2	20	16.9			
	times a week	10	23.1	2	7.2	20	10.7			

ble	Unit-l	Unit-based		ralized	Т	otal			
-	Ν	%	N	%	N	%	df	р	X^2
About once a week	8	11.4	2	4.2	10	8.5			
About several times a month	15	21.4	4	8.3	19	16.1			
About once a month	11	15.7	6	12.5	17	14.4			
About once every three months	1	1.4	13	27.1	14	11.9			
Several times a year	3	4.3	13	27.1	16	13.6			
Once a year	1	1.4	5	10.4	6	5.1			
Less than once a year	0	0.0	3	6.3	3	2.5			

Variable

Chapter 3

Effects of Staff Education on Staff Nurses' Anxiety Levels and Clinical Reasoning

In a changing and challenging healthcare environment, staff nurses are an influential group of healthcare professionals in any tertiary care hospital (Anbazhagan et al., 2016). Scholars have identified staff training and development as crucial to an organization and its effectiveness (Olaniyan & Ojo, 2008). The quality of patient care is strongly correlated to the performance of the nursing staff; therefore, staff development plays a pivotal role in maintaining staff nurses' competence and keeping them abreast of new equipment and procedures. In addition, there is a critical need to educate the nursing workforce and enhance their skills to meet the complex challenges of caring for patients with comorbid physical and mental health problems across all age groups (McCloughen et al., 2012).

Staff development models are used in the healthcare environment to educate staff nurses and to reinforce their prior education. Since 1992, staff development models have been used in the healthcare setting (Sheriff & Banks, 2001). In more recent years, frequently used models have been centralized and unit-based. Centralized education meets generalized learning needs and provides nursing departments with a universal orientation, coordinating and implementing intravenous and blood transfusion therapy courses, physical assessment courses, professional update programs, and universal workshops and conferences (Cummings & McCaskey, 1992). Unit-based educators offer personal, educational programs tailored to individual nurses' needs rather than wide-ranging education programs (Topley, 2009). They aim to meet the nursing staff's continuing educational needs and encourage professional growth and development (Leslie & Churilla, 1998).

Unit-based and centralized education staff development models educate staff nurses on the inpatient units; however, they have noted differences. First, unit-based educators are assigned to one unit, whereas centralized educators are assigned to multiple units. This difference implies that unit-based educators are more accessible to staff nurses than educators in a centralized system. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic has had short and long-term effects on frontline workers' physical, social, and psychological health, including nurses globally (Meghani & Lalani, 2020). Staff education has been influential during the COVID-19 pandemic, primarily due to staff shortages and new equipment such as ventilators. These problems required the recruitment of outpatient, agency, travel, and novice nurses who needed swift and continuous education. The units with a unit-based educator were at an advantage because the staff nurses had education support continually versus the units with centralized educators who were either conducting orientation of new employees at different locations throughout the week, attending conferences, providing education on their assigned units, or in organizational meetings. Second, unit-based educators are more familiar than centralized educators with the unit's culture and practices, the staff nurses, and the educational needs of the staff nurses.

Finally, unit-based educators are in the position to alleviate staff nurses' anxiety and improve their clinical reasoning skills because the unit-based educators are present throughout the day to assist and reinforce education. In addition, the staff nurses are generally more comfortable performing a skill or asking questions because they see this individual daily, which builds rapport and trust. In contrast, centralized educators are responsible for several units, so they are not always available when education needs to arise, creating a challenge in contacting an educator. This delay may cause anxiety among the staff nurses, primarily if they are put in the position to ask other staff nurses to assist with an unfamiliar skill, such as troubleshooting or

assessing a chest tube or ventilator. Furthermore, concerning enhancing a staff nurse's clinical reasoning skills, centralized educators do not have access to the staff nurses all the time to observe and assess the staff nurses throughout the day. The centralized educator's functions include meeting the generalized learning needs to staff nurses on their own units and providing nursing departments with scheduled education sessions or impromptu meetings regarding changes to policies and procedures. Centralized educators must be called to the unit by the charge nurse if there is a clinical need, or they schedule a general education session via the unit's manager. Hence, these delays or hiccups can create missed opportunities to enhance staff nurses' clinical reasoning.

A comprehensive search strategy was conducted on anxiety and clinical reasoning using CINAHL and PubMed databases. The search with a timeline from 1970-2022 identified studies that measured staff nurses' and nursing students' anxiety and clinical reasoning. Examples of search terms used were "anxiety and staff nurses," "anxiety and staff development and staff nurses," "anxiety and unit-based," "anxiety and centralized education," "anxiety, clinical reasoning, and staff nurses," "clinical reasoning and staff development," "clinical reasoning, and nursing, anxiety, and nursing,". The search resulted in studies concerning anxiety as it relates to nursing students and staff nurses and to anxiety related to Covid-19 and educational programs. Studies, including anxiety with preceptorship and work environments, were also found. Regarding clinical reasoning, studies were mainly related to nursing students, not staff nurses.

Anxiety and Learning

Anxiety is a concern that alerts us to potential threats and allows us to evaluate and respond (Dickson-Swift et al., 2014). For example, the healthcare environment generates anxiety for staff nurses Kaushik et al., (2021). In addition, it has also been reported that nurses are the

most stressed among healthcare professionals (Kumar et al., 2016), and it has been observed that nurses spend a longer time than physicians caring for ill people (Chou et., al 2014).

Staff nurses experience anxiety due to inadequate staffing, high acuity, patient deterioration, and lack of education regarding policies and procedures (Arkan et al., 2018). For example, nurses working in high-acuity settings are susceptible to increased anxiety due to a lack of knowledge, unfamiliar surroundings, and fear of the unknown (Lamont et al., 2017). After thoroughly searching the literature, the researcher found no studies measuring anxiety among staff nurses related to unit-based and centralized education. However, studies that measured anxiety among staff nurses were found. For example, Quang (2021) investigated anxiety, depression, and related factors affecting Clinical Medical Staff (CMS) during the COVID-19 pandemic at Dong Da General Hospital and Dong Anh General Hospital in Hanoi. The researchers highlighted the need for educational sessions to equip CMS with the skills to cope with psychological stress during the pandemic. Bayes and Ewens (2017) conducted a review to investigate how nurses view and experience caring for pregnant and postpartum women in nonmaternity care settings, such as critical care and medical-surgical units. The review found that the staff nurses were ill-prepared for caring for pregnant and postpartum women in acute care settings. A lack of education and a need to "learn on the job" reportedly evoked stress, trauma, and a sense of professional inadequacy. Whitehead et al., 2010, assessed the ongoing impact of the End-of-Life Nursing Education Consortium program on nurses' death anxiety, concerns about dying, and knowledge of the dying process. The authors stated that clinicians should integrate repeated interventions and not expect long-term improvements due to a single education session. Therefore, ongoing reinforcement is crucial to sustaining desired end-of-life care behaviors among staff nurses and decreasing anxieties.

Staff nurses, in general, display signs of anxiety because of their lack of knowledge and technique regarding the care of patients (Kuroda et al., 2009). Studies have supported the idea that educating nurses through preceptorship is valuable. For example, Kuroda and colleagues studied the relationship between preceptorship and staff nurse anxiety levels through six educational programs. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Spielberger, 1983) measured anxiety levels. The results revealed high anxiety levels among the nurses, which interfered with the nurses' ability to learn (Kuroda et al., 2009). Therefore, nurse educators should understand the skills such as operating a mechanical ventilator or doing tracheostomy care that may be anxiety-provoking and tailor their educational interventions to minimize students' and nursing 'staff's anxiety (Melincavage, 2011). A study among nursing professionals revealed that circumstances in the work environment could provoke anxiety, such as patient health conditions, lack of material, equipment, and staff, as well as high-complexity procedures (de Barros et al., 2003).

This review indicates that anxiety can interfere with learning. Although no research has been done on anxiety during staff education sessions, there are reasons that it may be important. Staff nurses may be anxious about staff education because they do not want to be judged incompetent. Also, taking the extra step to ask a clinical educator may provoke anxiety, especially if the nurse is unfamiliar with the educator. Anxiety among staff nurses may also occur due to the delay in getting help from educators. Because unit-based educators are more accessible and familiar with the nurses on the unit, there is reason to believe that staff nurses may be less anxious during staff development sessions with unit-based educators.

Clinical Reasoning

Clinical reasoning is a crucial characteristic of healthcare professionals. It is used as an indicator to identify an expert nurse (Victor-Chmil, 2017). Clinical reasoning enables the

experienced nurse to evaluate clinical situations to ascertain the need to intervene when a patient is deteriorating (Powers et al., 2019). In addition, it is an essential nursing competence often demonstrated in experienced nurses working in various nursing specialties (Banning, 2008). Clinical reasoning is a complex cognitive process that utilizes formal and informal thinking strategies to gather and analyze patient information, evaluate its significance, and weigh alternative actions (Simmons, 2010). Sommers (2018) stated that clinical reasoning is a process by which nurses and other healthcare professionals gather, sort, interpret information, prioritize problems, and formulate conclusions to solve clinical problems.

Clinical reasoning is essential for safe, high quality patient care in healthcare facilities and in disaster response (Liou et al., 2016). Improving the quality of nursing care hinges on refining nurses' decision and judgment skills and managing the complex uncertainty (Hammond, 1996) that accompanies clinical practice. To identify significant changes in a patient's condition and correctly interpret meaning in very complex systems, nurses must (a) possess adequate clinical reasoning skills, (b) partner with patients, and (c) effectively communicate findings to the team (Lunney, 2010; Massey et al., 2016). However, the challenge of finding teaching strategies and learning experiences to promote the development of this skill in the learner remains a concern (Harmon & Thompson, 2015). Staff development is necessary to update staff nurses with technical and interactive skills (Siehoff, 2003). Limited nursing knowledge and experience can produce detrimental patient outcomes.

The literature search yielded no studies comparing unit-based and centralized education models and their effect on staff nurses' clinical reasoning. However, articles discussed the importance of clinical reasoning in nursing and examined its impact on nursing students and new graduate nurses. For example, Tesoro et al. (2020) conducted a

study to test the impact of clinical reasoning prompts on nursing students' clinical judgment of a written case study. The results were insufficient to improve clinical judgment significantly; however, the students stated that the clinical reasoning prompts assisted with narrowing down and identifying the patient's problems. (Tesoro et al., 2020) implied that nurse educators should provide students with additional education and practice to identify and address complex disease processes. In addition, a study by Marcomini et al. (2021) evaluated an educational activity's effectiveness in improving nursing students' clinical reasoning.

The instrument was the Italian version of the Nurse Clinical Reasoning Scale (NCRS). A paired sample *t* test was used to evaluate possible differences in the students' responses before and after the educational activity. The *t* test indicated that the NCRS scores were significantly higher after the simulation-based triage exercise. Another study by Hu et al. (2021) evaluated the impact of a simulation-based triage exercise on nursing students' self-reported clinical reasoning ability. The results indicated no significant difference in the mean clinical reasoning ability scores between the three groups in the pre-test (p > 0.05). However, clinical reasoning ability scores in the post-test among students in the intervention group were significantly higher than those in the control group (p < 0.001).

Koivisto et al., 2018 conducted a study involving a simulation game and its effect on nurses' clinical reasoning. Results indicated that elements in the game-based simulation that affected learning clinical reasoning in nursing education were usability, application, nursing knowledge, and exploration (Koivisto et al., 2018). The authors stated that nurse educators are confronted with delivering an engaging and appealing learning environment for clinical nursing education. However, educators also need to be future-oriented and able to design

and adopt new pedagogical innovations. New graduate nurses must receive support and continued education emphasizing the enhancements to their clinical reasoning so that a positive transition and safe nursing practice can occur (Powers et al., 2019).

In addition, continuing education post-graduation is essential to enhance new graduate nurses' clinical reasoning and ability to identify deterioration in patients and prevent failure to rescue deteriorating patients (Kavanagh & Szweda, 2017). Another study (Jessee & Tanner, 2016) developed an instrument to describe and quantify the construct of clinical coaching, defined as the one-to-one teaching, verbal questioning, and feedback behaviors used by a clinical supervisor (e.g., school of nursing faculty or staff nurse preceptor). Results indicated that clinical coaching strategies improved students' clinical reasoning skills. Because the unit-based education model is individualized, it is predicted that it may improve staff nurses' clinical reasoning.

Purpose

This study compared anxiety and clinical reasoning in staff nurses engaged in unit-based and centralized staff development models. The following research questions were addressed:

Research Question 1

Will staff nurses exposed to unit-based education have less anxiety during staff education than staff nurses on units with centralized education?

Research Question 2

Will staff nurses exposed to unit-based education have enhanced clinical reasoning as compared to staff nurses on units with centralized education?

Method

Design

This study used a correlational, cross-sectional, intact group design. A web-based Qualtrics survey was used to collect data to address the research questions.

Study Participants

Convenience sampling was used to recruit staff nurses from preselected units at a tertiary care medical center, Montefiore Medical Center Moses and Weiler Campuses and the Children's Hospital at Montefiore in the Bronx, New York. Participants were recruited from a target population of 198 nurses employed in two adult medicalsurgical units, one pediatric medical-surgical unit, and one adult emergency department (E.D.). The unit-based units were the emergency room at the Weiler campus and a pediatric unit at the CHAM) campus. Both centralized units were from the Moses campus.

The inclusion criteria for this study were registered nurses who (1) work full and parttime, day and night shifts, (2) had more than 3 months of experience, (3) work in preselected medical-surgical or emergency departments, and (4) have been exposed to either unit-based or centralized education.

The exclusion criteria for this study were personnel who were not registered nurses and nurses who worked per-diem in the float pool or an agency. Also excluded were nurses who work in other settings that are not medical-surgical or emergency departments and nurses on disability or leaves of absence.

Power analyses by G-Power 3.1 based on a t test between independent groups with a medium effect size of .50, power of .85, and a two-tailed probability of .05 resulted in a

required sample size of 146. The researcher targeted a sample of 150 study participants. There were two groups in the study representing four different units. Group 1 represented nurses from two units exposed to unit-based educators, and Group 2 was from two units exposed to centralized clinical educators.

Human Subjects Protection

Before data collection was initiated, preliminary approval was received from the hospital's Director of Research and Evidence-Based Practice (See Appendix A). Next, Institutional Review Board (IRB) permission was granted from Teachers College and Montefiore Medical Center. Once IRB approval was given, the data collection process was initiated. Informed consent was completed by the subject immediately before they began the questionnaire (see Appendix B)

Setting

The study was conducted on four units in Montefiore Medical Center, a prominent academic and teaching tertiary hospital in the Bronx, New York. The units were the emergency department at the Weiler campus, two adult medical-surgical units at the Moses campus, and one pediatric medical-surgical unit at The Children's Hospital at Montefiore (CHAM) located on the Moses campus. Staff development is handled by clinical educators who are either unit-based or from the Learning Network, which represents centralized education.

Instruments

A demographic questionnaire, the State Anxiety Inventory (SAI), and the Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale (NCRS) comprised the instruments for this report.

Demographic Questionnaire

The demographic questionnaire assessed age, sex, race/ethnicity, education level, years as a nurse, years at Montefiore Medical Center, years in the unit they are currently working on, shift worked, years worked on the current unit, area of practice, the extent of/frequency of interactions with a clinical educator, and whether respondents perceived that a unit-based clinical educator or the Learning Network served their unit. (see Appendix C)

The State Anxiety Inventory (SAI)

The State-Trait Anxiety inventory was developed by Spielberger et al. (1983). Only the state version of the scale was used in this study. The State Anxiety Inventory questionnaire (SAI) (see Appendix G) was used to measure anxiety reported by staff nurses during staff education. The SAI state scale consists of 20 items that ask respondents to describe how they felt at a particular moment in time. Responses were rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale (1 =not at all, 2 = somewhat, 3 = moderately so, 4 = very much so). Total scores for state anxiety range from 20–80. Although the scale does not have a cutoff point, it is generally accepted that 39 to 40 points indicate a moderately high anxiety score. Cronbach's alphas were reported as .92 for state anxiety (Spielberger et al., 1983). Anxiety during staff education was assessed because the researcher wanted to know if having an educator on the unit to assist the nurses with complex skills and to provide reinforcement and support would lessen their anxiety during staff education, which could improve their performance. Cronbach's alpha for this study was .93. The scale contains 20 items, with a higher score indicating higher state anxiety. Half of the items are reverse-coded. The total score is the sum of all item scores. Mind Garden granted permission to use this scale. (see Appendix J)

Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale

The Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale (NCRS) (see Appendix H) is a self-report scale comprising 15 items. Responses are rated on a five-point Likert scale, and the scoring for each item ranges from 1 = *strongly disagree* to 5 = *strongly agree*. Total scores for the instrument range from 15-75; a higher score indicates a higher level of self-reported clinical reasoning ability (Liou et al., 2015). The instrument was tested for internal consistency and test-retest reliability. In addition, its validity was tested with content, construct, and known-groups validity. Three experts with an average of nine years of clinical experience, two senior faculty members, and one experienced clinical nurse in medical-surgical nursing were invited to establish the scale's content validity. The content validity index (CVI) and scale were 1.0, indicating content adequacy. Cronbach's alpha was.93, and the construct validity of the NCRS was supported based on factor analysis (Liou et al., 2015). The author granted permission to use the NCRS instrument. (see Appendix K)

Procedure

Data collection was conducted from the first week of September 2022 to the first week of December 2022, and participants were asked to dedicate about 30 minutes to complete the survey through Qualtrics. Prospective participants were recruited through Outlook Web Access, the organization's email management system, flyers, and unit huddles. The email (see Appendix F) described the study, its purpose, and the consent (see Appendix B). In addition, the researcher visited each unit weekly to remind the staff nurses to fill out the survey and answer any questions. Participants were informed that they had the right not to participate in the research and there would be minimal risk of participating. In the consent form, participants were informed that the study did not benefit the participants involved;

however, subsequent staff nurses and the nursing profession might benefit from the findings.

Participants were told at the beginning of the survey that they could participate in a lottery to win a \$50, \$100, or \$150 Amazon gift card after completing the survey, and the winners would be notified via email. At the end of the survey, participants were directed to a link to a different survey where they would enter their email addresses if they were interested in the lottery. The email addresses were not connected to the subjects' answers and were destroyed after all winners were selected.

At the end of data collection, the lottery winners were selected using the randomization technique in Excel. Next, the researcher sent emails to the winners and requested an acknowledgment of receipt of the email. Once the nurses responded to the researcher, instructions were sent with codes to access the Amazon gift cards.

Data Analyses

The researcher used SPSS (version 29) statistical software to analyze the collected data. A total of 118 nurses attempted the questionnaire, and 86 completed it. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize sample characteristics and scores on the measures of staff nurses' anxiety levels and clinical reasoning scores. Frequencies and percentages were used to summarize nominal data; means and standard deviations were used to summarize continuous data. Differences between group responses for independent sample comparisons were examined using *t* tests.

Results

Description of the Sample

Nurses from four different units were recruited for the study. Two units were exposed to unit-based education, and two units were exposed centralized education provided by the

Learning Network clinical educators. There were 198 nurses on these four units.

Of the 198 staff nurses to whom recruitment emails were sent, 137 logged on to the survey site, yielding a response rate of 69%. Of 137 who logged on to the site, 118 (86.1%) responded to at least some items on the survey, while 19 (16%) nurses logged on to the site and did not continue. Out of the 118 nurses who started the survey, 86 completed the entire survey for a completion rate of 73%. Group 1, which included nurses from the two units exposed to unit-based educators, had 48 completed and 22 incomplete surveys. Group 2, which included nurses from the two units exposed to centralized educators, had 38 completed and ten incomplete surveys. However, the sample response for each scale differed due to missing data from participants who started the survey and stopped along the way (see Table 3.1). A post hoc power analysis for the new sample size was calculated using G-Power 3.1 with a resulting power of 0.62 for a 0.5 effect size and alpha .05 with groups n=38 and n=48.

The majority of respondents (see Table 3.2) (83.05%) were female and in the age range of 23-36 (60.54%), and 39% were in the age range of 37 or older. In addition, most nurses 42.4% had been employed at Montefiore Medical Center for six to ten years, and 23% for 10-plus years. Nurses from Group 1 represented 59.32% of the sample, and Group 2 comprised 40.68% of the sample. Forty percent of the participants interacted with their clinical educator from several times a week to about once a week. Interactions several times monthly were reported by about 27%, and several times yearly were reported by 18% of the nurses.

Nurses were asked to report if their clinical educator was either unit-based or centralized (from the Learning Network). Ten out of the 77 nurses from units with a unitbased educator incorrectly reported that they were from units with a centralized educator.

Conversely, two nurses from the units with a centralized educator incorrectly reported that they were from units with a unit-based educator. Fifteen nurses who stated they were unsure what type of educator served their units were from units with centralized educators. Thus, 17 (41%) of the 41 nurses from units with centralized education were unsure or mistaken about what type of unit they were on. In comparison, 13% of the 77 nurses with unit-based education were confused about the type of educator on their unit. Data analyses addressing the research questions used groups designated by the units on which they worked not by the type of staff education they thought they were getting.

Research Questions

Research Question 1

An independent sample *t* test was used to address the research question concerning staff education's effects on staff nurses' anxiety. The anxiety of the 48 participants in the unitbased group (M = 35.7, SD = 11.47) was lower than the anxiety in 38 participants in the centralized education group (M = 37.2, SD = 11.35). No statistically significant differences were found, t(84) = -.633, p = .528, in anxiety levels during staff education among staff nurses from the two different staff development models.

Research Question 2

There was no statistically significant difference in means, t(85) = -.188, p = .852, between the 48 participants who represented the unit-based group (M = 59.1, SD = 6.61) and the 39 participants in the centralized education group (M = 59.3 SD = 6.80) related to clinical reasoning.

Discussion

This study is the first to compare two staff development models (unit-based and

centralized) on anxiety and clinical reasoning among staff nurses. The data analyses showed no significant differences between the groups related to anxiety during staff development or clinical reasoning among the staff nurses in unit-based and centralized education models. In contrast, Kuroda et al. (2009) evaluated educational programs and novice nurses' anxiety levels using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). They found that the nurses' anxiety levels were reduced after they received an education through preceptorship. These findings are relevant to this study because preceptorship is a form of individualized education similar to unit-based education. A preceptor performs as a role model, teacher, evaluator, and supporter for an individual preceptee. Unit-based educators are similar to preceptors due to the individualized education and reinforcement they provide to staff nurses.

It should be noted that the anxiety assessed in this study was anxiety during staff education, and such education can be perceived as stressful. Unit-based education can allay anxiety because these educators are assigned to the unit, and when providing education or assisting a staff nurse with a skill or procedure, the staff nurses are more likely to feel at ease because they are familiar with that educator and have built a relationship with him/her. However, centralized educators are not as accessible as unit-based educators because they are assigned to several inpatient units and are not always on-site due to other responsibilities, such as orienting new staff. The staff nurses may also be unfamiliar with their centralized educators due to different schedules, vacations, and illnesses. Staff nurses work three days a week. Centralized educators present education sessions for groups of nurses. These sessions could occur on days when nurses are off or otherwise unavailable. On the other hand, the staff nurses will see the unit-based educator more regularly. One indication of staff nurse familiarity with the educator was that 41% of the nurses on centralized units were confused or mistaken about what type of

educator served their unit compared with 13% of those who worked with unit-based educators.

One problem with this study was that staff nurses were from four units with different acuity levels. For example, the unit-based units included the adult emergency room, which serves high-acuity patients and a pediatric unit which served a mix of acutely ill children and children with less severe conditions. Acuity on inpatient units can interfere with staff nurses' education due to disruptions and increase the anxiety levels of nurses. Patients on these high acuity units require more attention, which may prevent nurses from attending education sessions conducted by the unit-based educator. In addition, the education session may be canceled or rushed because of the deteriorating health status of the patient.

Even if the unit-based educator is present 100% of the time for support or education, some nurses will still report anxiety during staff education on any given day. In addition, new nurses may be especially vulnerable to the disruptive effects of acuity. Because the unit-based education units were more likely to have less experienced nurses than the units with centralized education, the combination of high acuity and less experienced nurses might have neutralized any salutary effects on anxiety that unit-based education might have had. Finally, a unit's acuity can produce less personalized education sessions, which are missed opportunities for nurses to learn or reinforce their skills.

The centralized units were adult medical-surgical units with less acuity, but at any given time, emergencies do occur, and staff nurses' anxiety levels would be heightened. Such anxiety may be reflected in anxiety during staff education. The Covid-19 pandemic also has disrupted staff nurses' practices resulting in heightened stress and anxiety (Gupta, 2020). Therefore, this could explain why there were no differences in anxiety levels among the staff nurses from the two staff development models.

Regarding staff nurses' clinical reasoning, most studies on clinical reasoning involved using an educational method or strategy to improve nursing students and new graduates' clinical reasoning. These studies demonstrated that types of educational offerings could have a positive impact on nurses' clinical reasoning abilities (Koivisto et al., 2018; Tesoro et al., 2020; Marcomini et al., 2021; Fen et al., 2021; Jessee & Tanner, 2016; Molly et al., 2022). The lack of difference in the clinical reasoning scores could be related to the self-report nature of the clinical reasoning scale and that nurses felt that their clinical reasoning skills were competent. Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic may have disrupted operations across units so profoundly that it overwhelmed any effect that staff development models could have had.

Limitations

There were limitations to this study. The cross-sectional design made it difficult to ascertain the cause and effect of the variables studied. In addition, the inability to randomize the staff nurses into groups representing the different staff development models may have introduced selection bias. The acuity of the units that represented unit-based education in the adult emergency room and the pediatric unit was higher than that of the adult medical-surgical units with centralized education.

The convenience sample of nurses from four specifically selected acute care nursing units was recruited for the study, which could have introduced sampling bias. The sample may not represent the general population of all acute care nurses interacting with a clinical educator from the unit-based or centralized education model. The researcher anticipated a sample size of 150, but the final sample was 86. A post hoc power analysis using the sample size of 86 indicated a power of .62 to detect a significant result. This power was lower than the desired power of .85 because of the departure of staff nurses before and during data collection due to the Covid-19

pandemic. This low power may be responsible for the finding on anxiety which showed a nonsignificant advantage for the unit-based groups.

The study's response rate of 69% might have been improved if a gift card incentive had been provided to all participants rather than offering a lottery. Another limitation could be that the staff nurses may have overestimated their clinical reasoning abilities because the NCRS was designed primarily for nursing students rather than for staff nurses. Finally, unit-based educators may not be oriented to allaying anxiety during staff education and may not have the skills to improve staff nurses' clinical reasoning.

Implications

Since the findings showed no differences between unit-based and centralized education concerning staff nurses' clinical reasoning and anxiety levels, there is a need for more research that measures the role of staff development and its effect on staff nurses' anxiety and clinical reasoning in acute care settings. For example, replicating this study utilizing other methods, such as observations or interviews, could shed light on staff nurses' perception of their clinical reasoning and anxiety during unit-based or centralized education and study anxiety and educational need versus staff development.

In addition, experimental studies with larger sample sizes, multiple sites, and longitudinal would be more generalizable. Studies that compare similar units, such as emergency departments with and without unit-based education or medical-surgical units with or without unit-based education, could also benefit the nursing literature and explain this study's findings. Moreover, other variables such as patient satisfaction scores, medication errors, fall prevention, or staff nurse retention could be more sensitive to different types of staff education.

Finally, mixed-method design studies regarding this study's topic could provide a better

insight into how staff nurses perceive their clinical reasoning skills and their anxiety levels during staff education or anxiety overall.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this is the first research study to examine the relationships of staff development models to clinical reasoning and to anxiety levels during staff education. Findings suggested that there were no significant differences between the groups. However, the study's limitations may have influenced the results of this study, necessitating further research.

Clinical reasoning in nursing is an essential function of health care to ensure safe practice (Carvalho et al., 2017). However, the challenge of finding teaching strategies and learning experiences to promote the development of this skill in staff nurses remains a concern. Therefore, investment in teaching and learning methods is required to enhance clinical reasoning skills in staff nurses. Most clinical reasoning studies were conducted on nursing students and new graduate staff nurses versus experienced staff nurses. The findings of this study suggest that unit-based educators may need better education on how to fulfill the potential of unit-based education to encourage the growth and development of staff nurses' clinical reasoning and enhance staff nurses' abilities to provide patient care.

In addition, anxiety among nurses has been a catalyst for impaired clinical reasoning. Other ways to address anxiety in staff nurses might include individual interventions such as mindfulness meditation and organizational interventions such as better patient-to-nurse ratios, placing unit-based educators on each inpatient unit, or conducting skill fair so staff nurses can practice skills they need reinforcement with. These interventions may affect staff nurses' anxiety.

References

- Anbazhagan, S., Ramesh, N., Nisha, C., & Joseph, B. (2016). Shift work disorder and related health problems among nurses working in a tertiary care hospital, Bangalore, South India. *Indian Journal of Occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 20(1), 35–38.
- Arkan, B., Ordin, Y. & Yılmaz, D. (2018). Undergraduate nursing students' experience related to their clinical learning environment and factors affecting to their clinical learning process. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 29 (2018), 127–132.
- Banning M. (2008). Clinical reasoning and its application to nursing: Concepts and research studies. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 8(3), 177–183.
- Bayes, S., & Ewens, B. (2017). Registered nurses' experiences of caring for pregnant and postpartum women in general hospital settings: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative data. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(5–6), 599–608.
- Carvalho, E. C. D., Oliveira-Kumakura, A. R. D. S., & Morais, S. C. R. V. (2017). Clinical reasoning in nursing: teaching strategies and assessment tools. *Revista brasileira de enfermagem*, 70, 662-668.
- Chou, L. P., Li, C. Y., & Hu, S. C. (2014). Job stress and burnout in hospital employees: comparisons of different medical professions in a regional hospital in Taiwan. *BMJ* open, 4(2).
- Cummings C, & McCaskey R. (1992). A model combining centralized and decentralized staff development. *Journal of Nursing Staff Development*, 8(1), 22-25.
- de Barros, A. L., de Humerez, D. C., Fakih, F. T., & Michel, J. L. (2003). Situações geradoras de ansiedade e estratégias para seu controle entre enfermeiras: estudo preliminar [Anxiety generating situations among nurses and strategies to control it: preliminary

study]. Revista latino-americana de enfermagem, 11(5), 585–592.

- Dickson-Swift, V., Fox, C., Marshall, K., Welch, N., & Willis, J. (2014). What really improves employee health and wellbeing: Findings from regional Australian workplaces. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 7(3), 138-155.
- Gupta, A. K., Mehra, A., Niraula, A., Kafle, K., Deo, S. P., Singh, B., Sahoo, S., & Grover, S.
 (2020). Prevalence of anxiety and depression among the healthcare workers in Nepal during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Asian Journal of Ppsychiatry*, 54, 102260.
- Hammond K.R. (1996). *Human judgement and social policy: Irreducible uncertainty, inevitable error, unavoidable injustice*. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Harmon, M. M., & Thompson, C. (2015). Clinical reasoning in pre-licensure nursing students. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 10(2), 63-70.
- Hu, F., Yang, J., Yang, B. X., Zhang, F. J., Yu, S. H., Liu, Q., Wang, A. L., Luo, D., Zhu, X. P., & Chen, J. (2021). The impact of simulation-based triage education on nursing students' self-reported clinical reasoning ability: A quasi-experimental study. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 50.
- Jessee, M. A., & Tanner, C. A. (2016). Pursuing improvement in clinical reasoning: Development of the clinical coaching interactions inventory. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 55(9), 495-504.
- Kavanagh, J. M., & Szweda, C. (2017). A crisis in competency: The strategic and ethical imperative to assessing new graduate nurses' clinical reasoning. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 38(2), 57-62.
- Kaushik, A., Ravikiran, S. R., Suprasanna, K., Nayak, M. G., Baliga, K., & Acharya, S. D. (2021). Depression, anxiety, stress and workplace stressors among nurses in tertiary

health care settings. *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 25(1), 27.

- Koivisto, J.-M., Haavisto, E., Niemi, H., Haho, P., Nylund, S., & Multisilta, J. (2018). Design principles for simulation games for learning clinical reasoning: A design-based research approach. *Nurse Education Today*, 60, 114–120.
- Kumar, A., Pore, P., Gupta, S., & Wani, A. O. (2016). Level of stress and its determinants among Intensive Care Unit staff. *Indian Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 20(3), 129.
- Kuroda T, Kanoya Y, Sasaki AO, Katsuki T, & Sato C. (2009). Relationship between educational programs offered at midsize hospitals in Japan and novice nurses' anxiety levels. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 40(3), 132–138.
- Lamont, S., Brunero, S., Perry, L., Duffield, C., Sibbritt, D., Gallagher, R., & Nicholls, R.
 (2017). 'Mental health day' sickness absence amongst nurses and midwives: Workplace, workforce, psychosocial and health characteristics. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *73*(5), 1172–1181.
- Leslie, M. L., & Churilla, P. G. (1998). Unit-based education: meeting the needs of staff nurses in the'90s. *Head and Neck Nursing: Official Journal of the Society of Otorhinolaryngology and Head-neck Nurses*, *16*(2), 12-14.
- Liou, S., Liu, H., Tsai, H., Tsai, Y., Lin, Y., Chang, C., & Cheng, C. (2016). The development and psychometric testing of a theory-based instrument to evaluate nurses' perception of clinical reasoning competence. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(3), 707–717.
- Lunney, M. (2010). Use of critical thinking in the diagnostic process. *International Journal of Nursing Terminologies and Classifications*, 21(2), 82-88.

- Massey, D., Chaboyer, W., & Anderson, V. (2017). What factors influence ward nurses' recognition of and response to patient deterioration? An integrative review of the literature. *Nursing Open*, *4*(1), 6-23.
- Marcomini, I., Terzoni, S., & Destrebecq, A. (2021). Fostering nursing students' clinical reasoning: a QSEN-based teaching strategy. *Teaching & Learning in Nursing*, *16*(4), 338–341.

May, R. (1996). *The meaning of anxiety*. WW Norton & Company.

- McCloughen A, Foster K, Huws-Thomas M, Delgado C, (2012). Physical health and wellbeing of emerging and young adults with mental illness: An integrative review of international literature. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 21(3), 274-288
- Meghani, S., & Lalani, N. (2020). Critical care nurses as frontline warriors during COVID-19 in Pakistan. *CONNECT: The World of Critical Care Nursing*, *14*(4), 196–201.
- Melincavage, S. M. (2011). Student nurses' experiences of anxiety in the clinical setting. *Nurse Education Today*, *31*(8), 785–789.
- Melo, K., Williams, B., & Ross, C. (2010). The impact of nursing curricula on clinical practice anxiety. *Nurse Education Today*, 30(8), 773-778.
- Molloy, M., Zhao, Y., Leonard, C., Chen, Y., Cadavero, A., Xing, W., Vaughn, J., Lin, Y.,
 Min, H., Oermann, M. & Yan, H. (2022). Nursing students from China and the United
 States: Learning Together Through Virtual Simulation. *Nursing Education Perspectives*, 43 (3), 171-174.
- Olaniyan, D. A., & Ojo, L. B. (2008). Staff training and development: A vital tool for organizational effectiveness. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 24(3), 326-331.
- Powers, K., Herron, E. & Pagel, J. (2019). Nurse Preceptor Role in New Graduate Nurses' Transition to Practice. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *38* (3), 131-136.

- Sheriff R, & Banks A. (2001). Integrating centralized and decentralized organization structures:
 An education and development model. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 17(2), 71-77.
- Siehoff, A. (2003). STAFF EDUCATOR RNs: Delivering unit-based education to bedside caregivers. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development, 19*, 313-316.
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., Lushene, R., Vagg, P. R., & Jacobs, G. A. (1983). Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Consulting Psychologists Press: Palo Alto. C.A., USA.

Simmons B. (2010) Clinical reasoning: a concept analysis. Journal of Advanced Nursing 66,

1151–1158.

- Sommers, C.L., 2018. Measurement of critical thinking, clinical reasoning, and clinical judgment in culturally diverse nursing students – A literature review. *Nurse Education in Practice*, *30*, 91–100.
- Tesoro, M. G., Simmons, A. M., Barros, A. L. B. L., Lopes, C. T., Guandalini, L. S., Cruz, E. D. de A., & Maurício, A. B. (2021). Effects of clinical reasoning prompts on nursing students' clinical judgment for a patient experiencing respiratory distress. *International Journal of Nursing Knowledge*, 32(1), 37–43.
- Topley D. (2009). Staff development story. A "learn on the run" program for nurses in the intensive care unit. *Journal for Nurses in Staff Development*, 25(6), 321–323.
- Quang, L. N., Kien, N. T., Anh, P. N., Anh, D. T. V., Nghi, T. D. B., Lan, P. P., Anh, N. T., Son, N. V., & Lieu, N. T. T. (2021). The level of expression of anxiety and depression in clinical health care workers during the COVID-19 outbreak in 2 hospitals in Hanoi, *Nursing Studies*, 50(12), 1720–1726.

Victor-Chmil, J., 2013. Critical thinking versus clinical reasoning versus clinical judgment:

differential diagnosis. Nurse Educator. 38 (1), 34-36.

Whitehead, P. B., Anderson, E. S., Redican, K. J., & Stratton, R. (2010). Studying the effects of the end-of-life nursing education consortium at the institutional level. *Journal of Hospice* & *Palliative Nursing*, 12(3), 184-193.

Table 3.1

State Anxiety Inventory and Nursing Clinical Reasoning Scale Sample Response Explained

Scale	M	SD	Min	Max	Alpha	Ν	Missing
SAI	36.36	11.37	20	80	.93	86	32
NCRS	63.26	7.12	15	75	.94	87	31

Table 3.2

Demographics Characteristics of Staff Nurses Sample

5 10.63	(13.9)
	(13.9)
10.3	(13.9%)
	10.3

Baseline Characteristics	n	%	М	SD	Missing Data %
What is your highest education level?					(13.9%)
Associate degree	6	4.4			
Bachelor's degree	84	61.3			
Master's degree	24	17.5			
Doctorate	3	2.2			
Prefer not to answer	1	.7			
What shift do you work regularly?					(13.9)
Day	73	53.3			
Night	45	32.8			
How long in months/years have you worked on your current unit?			8.31	10.3	(13.9)
About how often do you interact with a clinical educator?					(13.9)
Daily	17	12.4			
About several times a week	26	19.0			
About several times a week About once a week	20 22	16.1			
About several times a month	9	6.6			
About once a month	13	9.5			
About once every three months	10	7.3			
Several times a year	13	9.5			
Once a year	4	2.9			
Less than once a year	3	2.9			
How often does the clinical educator offer in-service on your unit?					(13.9)
Daily	13	9.5			
About several times a week	20	14.6			
About once a week	10	7.3			
About several times a month	19	13.9			

Baseline Characteristics	n	%	M	SD	Missing Data %
About once a month	17	12.4			
About once every three months	14	10.2			
Several times a year	16	11.7			
Once a year	6	4.4			
Less than once a year	3	2.2			
Which type of educator serves your unit?					(13.9)
Unit-base educator	77	56.2			
Learning Network faculty	41	29.9			

Chapter 4

Conclusions

The two main chapters of this dissertation were based on a comparative cross-sectional study with intact groups. Guided by Knowles's assumptions of Adult Learning Theory, the study aimed to compare nurses' perceptions of their clinical educators from unit-based and centralized staff development models. In addition, the study examined whether staff nurses' anxiety and clinical reasoning differed under the two staff development models. A web-based Qualtrics survey was used to collect data from a convenience sample of staff nurses from four preselected units at Montefiore Medical Center Moses and Weiler Campuses and the Children Hospital at Montefiore in Bronx, New York. The nurses were recruited from a target population of 198 nurses employed in two adult medical-surgical units, one pediatric medical-surgical unit, and one adult emergency department (E.D.).

The fives instruments used in the two studies were a demographic questionnaire, the Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire (CEEQ), the Nursing Clinical Teacher Effectiveness Inventory (NCTEI), the State Anxiety Inventory (SAI), and the Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale (NCRS). The researcher developed the CEEQ instrument after an extensive literature search, which revealed no instrument measuring nurses' perception of their clinical educators based on Malcolm Knowles's *Adult Learning Theory*. Content validity was attained with the help of two experts in adult learning from a graduate school of education who rated how well the items represent Knowles's assumptions. Cronbach's alpha for the CEEQ was.97, which included the reverse-coded items. A Pearson's correlation analysis between the two surveys, the CEEQ and the NCTEI, was also conducted and showed a strong, positive, and significant correlation, respectively, indicating the concurrent validity of the CEEQ. A Chi-square analysis and

independent *t* test were conducted to compare demographic variables among the unit-based and centralized education groups.

Chapter 2 compared staff nurses' perceptions of their clinical educators from hospital units that used unit-based or centralized staff development models. Results demonstrated significantly higher scores among the nurses from the unit-based group compared to nurses from the centralized groups regarding nurses' perception of their instructors' methods and consistency of those methods with adult learning theory. Results also showed that the nurses from units with different staff development models significantly differed in their clinical instructors' perceived effectiveness. These findings indicated that staff nurses on the unit-based units found their clinical educators more effective than those from the centralized units. It also suggests that unitbased education effectively delivers education and support to staff nurses on inpatient units.

Chapter 3 examined whether staff nurses' anxiety during staff education was lowered, and clinical reasoning enhanced by staff nurses' exposure to unit-based education compared to centralized education. Results indicated no statistically significant differences between the groups regarding the effect of types of staff education on staff nurses' anxiety levels and clinical reasoning. The Nurse Clinical Reasoning Scale is used in nursing education but has not been used in staff education. As a result, staff educators may not emphasize clinical reasoning or know how to increase it in the nurses on their unit. In addition, experienced staff nurses may be loath to report that they cannot do the items covered in the instrument. This limitation may explain the nonsignificant results concerning clinical reasoning.

The outcomes of the studies have implications for further research. First, the need for more research that assesses the effects of staff development on learning outcomes, clinical expertise, and perhaps patient satisfaction with care. Second, employing other methods, such as

observations or interviews, could shed light on staff nurses' perception of their clinical reasoning and anxiety during unit-based or centralized education. In addition, experimental studies with larger sample sizes, multiple sites, and longitudinal designs would be more generalizable. Moreover, studies that compare similar units, such as emergency departments with and without unit-based education or medical-surgical units with or without unit-based education, could benefit the nursing literature on staff development. Finally, mixed-method design studies could provide a better insight into how staff nurses perceive their clinical educators.

Appendix A: Site Authorization Cooperation Letter

Site Authorization/Cooperation Letter

COMPANY NAME: Montefiore Medical Center (MMC). ADDRESS: 111 E 210 street Bronx NY, 10467 FULL CONTACT INFORMATION OF SITE CONTACT: Dr. Una Hopkins Uhopkins1@Montefiore.org

Date: April 11 2022

DNP Office

To whom it may concern,

After reviewing the proposed study, "A Comparison Between Unit-Based Education and Centralized Education Among Staff Nurses" to conduct research at Montefiore Medical Center (MMC), pending IRB approval from Teachers College, Columbia University and submission and approval of this research study at Montefiore.

Una Hopkins DNP Director of Research and Evidence Based Practice Montefiore Medical Center 111 East 210th St. Bronx, NY 10467 718 920 2263

Appendix B: Informed Consent

Informed Consent

INTRODUCTION

You are invited to participate in this research study called "A Comparison between Unit-Based Education and Centralized Education among Staff Nurses." You may qualify to take part in this research study because you are a nurse who is over 18 years old, works full or part-time, day and night shift, with more than three months of experience, and works on a medical-surgical unit or the emergency department, who has exposure or not to unit-based education and works at Montefiore Medical Center and /or Children's Hospital at Montefiore. You will be excluded from this study if you are a nurse who: is employed perdiem, in the float pool or agency, works in other settings that are not medical-surgical or the emergency department, is on disability, or is on a leave of absence. Approximately 150 people will participate in this study, and it will take approximately 30 minutes of your time to complete in one sitting. Funding is being sought for this study from the Teachers College at Columbia University.

WHY IS THIS STUDY BEING DONE?

This study is being done to compare Unit-Based Education and Centralized Education among Staff Nurses. This study will also determine staff nurses' perception of their clinical educators.

WHAT WILL I BE ASKED TO DO IF I AGREE TO TAKE PART IN THIS STUDY?

If you decide to participate, the primary researcher or one of the research assistants will reach out to you via email and ask you to complete an online survey. The online survey will include questions relating to demographics, anxiety levels, your clinical reasoning skills, and your perception of your clinical educator. The Demographic items are personal, and you may opt not to answer if you feel uncomfortable. The survey will be anonymous, and no identifiers will be linked to your survey responses. The procedure will be done at Montefiore Medical Center and The Children's Hospital at a time most convenient to you.

WHAT POSSIBLE RISKS OR DISCOMFORTS CAN I EXPECT FROM TAKING PART IN THIS STUDY?

This is a minimal risk study, which means the harms or discomforts that you may experience are not greater than you would ordinarily encounter in daily life while taking routine physical or psychological examinations or tests. However, you can stop participating in the study at any time without penalty. If you feel concerned that things you say might get back to your manager, your information will be kept confidential. The primary researcher is taking precautions to keep your information confidential by keeping all information on a password-protected computer.

WHAT POSSIBLE BENEFITS CAN I EXPECT FROM TAKING PART IN THIS STUDY?

There is no direct benefit to you for participating in this study.

WILL I BE PAID FOR BEING IN THIS STUDY?

You will not be paid to participate. However, you have a chance to win a \$50, \$100, or \$150 Amazon gift card after you have completed the survey. If you wish to be entered into the raffle, you will be prompted to click on a link to a second survey not linked in any way to the primary survey. In the second survey, you will be asked for your email address so you may be contacted about the raffle. Winners will be contacted by email. There are no costs to you for taking part in this study.

WHEN IS THE STUDY OVER? CAN I LEAVE THE STUDY BEFORE IT ENDS?

The study is over when you have completed the survey. However, you can leave the study at any time even if you have not finished.

PROTECTION OF YOUR CONFIDENTIALITY

Neither the primary researcher nor anyone on the research team will have access to your name. Any electronic or digital information related to your responses will be stored on a computer that is password protected. For quality assurance, the study team, and/or members of the Teachers College Institutional Review Board (IRB) may review the data collected from you as part of this study. Otherwise, all information obtained from your participation in this study will be held strictly confidential.

HOW WILL THE RESULTS BE USED?

The results of this study will be published in journals and presented at academic conferences. This is an anonymous survey, therefore, no identifying information will be included in a publication or used for educational purposes. This study is being conducted as part of the dissertation of the primary researcher.

WHO CAN ANSWER MY QUESTIONS ABOUT THIS STUDY?

If you have any questions about taking part in this research study, you should contact the primary researcher, Marilyn Campbell MSN RN-BC, at 646-709-9070 or at mjc2292@tc.columbia.edu or Dr. Kathleen O'Connell at oconnell@tc.columbia.edu. If you have questions or concerns about your rights as a research subject, you should contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) (the human research ethics committee) at 212-678-4105 or email IRB@tc.edu or you can write to the IRB at Teachers College, Columbia University, 525 W. 120th Street, New York, NY 10027, Box 151. The IRB is the committee that oversees human research protection for Teachers College, Columbia University. Also, please contact the IRB of the Albert Einstein College of Medicine and Montefiore Medical Center at 718-430-

2253 or email IRB@einsteinmed.edu.The IRB is the committee that oversees human research protection for the Albert Einstein College of Medicine and Montefiore Medical Center.

Teachers College, Columbia University Institutional Review Board

Protocol Number: 22-268 Consent Form Approved Until: No Expiration Date

Link to Informed Consent

Appendix C: Demographic Questionnaire

Please answer the following questions.

- 1. What is your age in years? _____
- 2. What is your gender? (Check one)
 - 1. Female
 - 2. Male
 - 3. Genderqueer
 - 4. Agender
 - 5. Non-binary/third gender
 - 6. Transgender
 - 7. Prefer not to say
 - 8. Prefer to self-describe_____

3. How do you describe your Race/Ethnicity? (Check all that apply)

- 1. American Indian or Alaskan Native
- 2. Asian
- 3. Black or African American
- 4. Hispanic or Latino/a/x or Spanish origin, including Cuban or Puerto Rican
- 5. Mexican or Mexican American, Chicano/a/x
- 6. Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- 7. White
- 8. I prefer not to answer
- 9. Some other race, ethnicity, or origin, please specify _____

4. Have you been an RN for more than 3 months?

Yes

No

5. How long have you been employed at Montefiore Medical Center? _____

6. What is your highest education level? (Check one)

- 1. Associate Degree
- 2. Diploma Nursing Degree
- 3. Bachelor's degree
- 4. Master's Degree
- 5. Doctorate

7. What is your current area of practice? (Check one)

- 1. Adult Medical-Surgical
- 2. Pediatric Medical-Surgical
- 3. Emergency Room
- 4. Others (specify)

8. Which specific unit do you usually work on? Please indicate below.

9. What shift do you work regularly? (Check one)

- 1. Day
- 2. Night

10. How many years have you worked on your current unit?

11. About how often do you interact with a clinical educator? (Select one answer)

- 1. Daily
- 2. About several times a week
- 3. About once a week
- 4. About several times a month
- 5. About once a month
- 6. About once every three months
- 7. Several times a year
- 8. Once a year
- 9. Less than once a year

12. How often does the clinical educator offer in-service on your unit? (Select one answer)

- 1. Daily
- 2. About several times a week
- 3. About once a week
- 4. About several times a month
- 5. About once a month
- 6. About once every three months
- 7. Several times a year
- 8. Once a year
- 9. Less than once a year

13. Which type of educator serves your unit? Please check the correct answer

- 1. Unit-based educator
- 2. Learning Network faculty
- 3. Not sure

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
1	Your clinical educator provides learning objectives before each					
	educational encounter.					
2	The clinical educator promotes independence regarding your learning.					
3	The clinical educator helps you solve the clinical problems you are having on the unit.					
4	Your clinical educator does not make educational encounters interesting.					
5	Your clinical educator provides opportunities to practice skills already learned.					
6	Your clinical educator stimulates your interest in the topic being presented.					

Appendix D: Clinical Educator Evaluation Questionnaire guided by Knowles' Assumptions

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
7	Your clinical educator addresses the desired outcomes for each learning opportunity.					
8	The clinical educator does most of the work for you during mock clinical exercises.					
9	Your clinical educator explains the process involved in learning opportunities.					
10	The clinical educator encourages reflection on your prior clinical experiences.					
11	The clinical educator encourages dialogue among you and your colleagues during educational encounters.					

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Disagree
12	Your clinical educator identifies your strengths and limitations objectively.					
13	Your clinical educator is available to answer questions related to new equipment or skills that you struggled with.					
14	The clinical educator works alongside preceptors and experienced nurses to assess clinical competencies and skills.					
15	Your clinical educator conducts individual conversations to identify your educational needs.					
16	The clinical educator encourages you to assess your own clinical needs.					

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
17	Your clinical educator explains the rationale behind specific procedures or information.					
18	Your clinical educator helps you identify gaps between your clinical goals and your present level of performance.					
19	Your clinical educator incorporates demonstration, simulation, and technologies in the learning environment.					
20	The clinical educator does not explain the rationale behind specific procedures or information.					
21	The clinical educator allows adequate time to practice new skills and concepts.					

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
22	Your clinical					
	educator					
	encourages					
	professional					
	development.					
23	Your clinical					
	educator helps					
	you relate new					
	learning to					
	your prior					
	clinical					
	experiences.					
24	Your clinical					
	educator					
	provides an					
	environment					
	where you can					
	share ideas and					
	experiences.					
25	Your clinical					
	educator					
	challenges you					
	constructively					
	during					
	educational					
	encounters.					
26	The clinical					
	educator does					
	not encourage					
	you to work on					
	your own.					
27	The clinical					
	educator					
	presents all the					
	information					
	you need to					
	know during a					
	session without					
	suggesting you					
	go to other					
	resources.					

Number	Questions	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
28	Your clinical educator embraces errors as a natural part of					
	the learning process.					
29	The clinical educator encourages questions about your clinical needs.					
30	Your clinical educator plans group discussions, allowing personal experiences and knowledge sharing.					
31	The clinical educator allows you to make practical applications of new knowledge.					
32	The clinical educator does not deal with clinical problems you are having on the unit.					
33	Your clinical educator provides orientation on new policies and procedures					

CEEQ Scoring Instructions

The CEEQ measures nurses' perceptions regarding if their clinical educators' methods are consistent with the adult learning theory self-perceived nursing clinical reasoning ability. The scale contains 33 items with higher score indicating how well clinical educator's methods are consistent with the adult learning theory. There are 5 reverse questions. The total score is to sum all item scores. Above is the scale.

Regular scores instructions

Strongly disagree = 1 Disagree = 2 Neither agree nor disagree = 3 Agree =4 Strongly agree = 5

Items 4, 8, 20, 26, and 32 are reversed scored-----all other items are scored regularly

Reverse scores instructions

Strongly disagree = 5 Disagree = 4 Neither agree nor disagree = 3 Agree =2 Strongly agree = 1

Sum = 33

Participants Instructions

Please read each item and select the number that best describes your current clinical educators teaching methods. There is no right or wrong answer.

Appendix E: NCTEI Survey Instrument

NCTEI Survey Instrument: Best Clinical Teacher DIRECTIONS: Think about your interactions with your clinical educator on your unit. Think back to specifically what this person did to and statement indicate hour descriptions the hebrying of this individual y make him/her the most effective clinical educator. For

	Not at all	Not at all						
Teac	Teaching Behavior							
		Very Decorintivo						Daconintino
Teac	Teaching Ability	1	2	3	4	5	9	
1.	Explains clearly	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
5.	Emphasizes what is important	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
Э.	Stimulates student interest in the subject	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
4	Remains accessible to students	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
5.	Demonstrates clinical procedures and techniques	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
6.	Guides students' development of clinical skills	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
7.	Provides specific practise opportunity	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
%	Offers special help when difficulties arise	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
9.	Is well prepared for teaching	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
10.	Enjoys teaching	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
11.	Encourages active participation in discussion	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
12.	Gears instruction to students level of readiness	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
13.	Quickly grasps what students are asking or telling	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
14.	Answers carefully and precisely questions raised by students	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
15.	Questions students to elicit underlying reasoning	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
16.	Helps students organize their thoughts about patient problems	1	2	3	4	5	9	7

7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9
5	5	. 5	. 5	5	5	5	5	5	5
4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
3	3	3	3	3	2	2	2 3	2	3
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	-	1
				erest	ield	ng	ırsing		
		judgment	kills	r area of interest	in his/her field	ure in nursing	vledge in nursing		ions
dependence		al skill and judgment	nunication skills	ing in his/her area of interest	evelopment in his/her field	useful literature in nursing	adth of knowledge in nursing	nitations	y of own actions
ss student independence	etence	strates clinical skill and judgment	trates communication skills	broad reading in his/her area of interest	es current development in his/her field	students to useful literature in nursing	strates a breadth of knowledge in nursing	izes own limitations	sponsibility of own actions
17. Promotes student independence	Nursing Competence	Demonstrates clinical skill and judgment	19. Demonstrates communication skills	20. Reveals broad reading in his/her area of interest	21. Discusses current development in his/her field	Directs students to useful literature in nursing	Demonstrates a breadth of knowledge in nursing	24. Recognizes own limitations	Takes responsibility of own actions

26.	Is a good role model	1	2	3	4	5	9	
Eval	Evaluation	1	2	3	4	5	9	
27.	Makes specific suggestions for improvement	1	2	3	4	5	9	
28.	Provides frequent feedback on students' performance	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
29.	Identifies students' strengths and limitations objectively	1	2	3	4	5	9	
30.	Observes students' performance frequently	1	2	3	4	5	9	
31.	Communicates expectations of students	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
32.	Gives students positive reinforcement for good contributions, observations or performance	1	7	ę	4	5	9	
33.	Corrects students' mistakes without belittling them	1	2	3	4	5	9	
34.	Does not criticize students in front of others	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
Inter	Interpersonal Relations	1	2	Э	4	5	9	
35.	Provides support and encouragement to students	1	2	3	4	5	9	
36.	Is approachable	1	2	3	4	5	9	
37.	Encourages a climate of mutual respect	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
38.	Listens attentively	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
39.	Shows a personal interest in students	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
40.	Demonstrates empathy	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
Pers	<u>Personality</u>	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
41.	Demonstrates enthusiasm	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
42.	Is a dynamic and energetic person	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
43.	Self-confidence	1	2	ю	4	5	9	(-
44.	Is self-critical	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-
45.	Is open-minded and non-judgemental	1	2	3	4	5	9	(-

6 7	6 7		
5	5		
4	4		
3	3		
7	2		
1	1		
46. Has a good sense of humour	Appeasers [Appears] organized		
1 6.	47. 96		

NCTEI Scoring Instructions

The NCTEI measures staff nurses 'perception of their clinical educator's effectiveness. The scale contains 47 items with higher scores indicating perceived effectiveness of the clinical educator. There are no reverse questions. The total score is to sum all item scores.

Above is the scale.

Sum = 47

Appendix F: Recruitment Email for Potential Participants

TC IRB ID: 22-268

Dear Staff Nurse,

My name is Marilyn Campbell, and I am a staff nurse at Montefiore. I am currently working on a research project about staff education that may be of interest to you. To be eligible to participate in this study, you must be a staff nurse more than three months and work full or part-time day or night shifts. Please be aware that, even if you are eligible, your participation in this or any research study is completely voluntary. There will be no consequences to you whatever if you choose not to participate, and your employment at Montefiore Medical Center will not be affected by that choice. If you do choose to participate, the study will involve completing an online survey. I will be visiting your unit throughout the upcoming weeks to inform you more about the study. You may choose not to respond to this email or speak to me when I visit your unit. If you do speak or respond to me, any questions you have about the study will be answered. I can be reached at maricamp@montefiore.org

If you want to participate and have at least 30 minutes now, click the link below.

https://tccolumbia.ca1.qualtrics.com/distributions/surveys/SV_eJyCc7hNJuWZUvc/a nonymous-

links#:~:text=https%3A//tccolumbia.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_eJyCc7hNJuWZUvc

Appendix G: SELF-EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE STAI AD Form Y-1

DIRECTIONS: A number of statements which people have used to describe themselves are given below. Read each statement and then choose the appropriate response to indicate how you feel when **your staff educator is providing education on your unit**. There are no right or wrong answers. Do not spend too much time on any one statement but give the answer which seems to describe your feelings during staff education.

	Not At All	Somewhat	Moderately So	Very Much So
1. I feel calm	1	2	3	4
2. I feel secure	1	2	3	4
3. I am tense	1	2	3	4
4. I feel strained	1	2	3	4
5. I feel at ease	1	2	3	4
6. I feel upset	1	2	3	4
7. I am presently worrying over possible misfortunes	1	2	3	4
8. I feel satisfied	1	2	3	4
9. I feel frightened	1	2	3	4
10. I feel comfortable	1	2	3	4
11. I feel self- confident	1	2	3	4
12. I feel nervous	1	2	3	4
13. I am jittery	1	2	3	4
14. I feel indecisive	1	2	3	4

	Not At All	Somewhat so	Moderately So	Very Much So
15. I am relaxed	1	2	3	4
16. I feel content	1	2	3	4
17. I am worried	1	2	3	4
18. I feel confused	1	2	3	4
19. I feel steady	1	2	3	4
20. I feel pleasant	1	2	3	4

STAI Scoring Instruction for regular items

Not At All = 1 Somewhat = 2 Moderately So = 3 Very Much So = 4

STAI Scoring Instructions for reverse items

Not At All = 4 Somewhat = 3 Moderately So = 2 Very Much So = 1

The SELF-EVALUATION QUESTIONNAIRE STAI AD Form Y-1 measures nurses' anxiety at the current moment. The scale contains 20 items with higher score indicating higher anxiety levels. The reverse coded items are 1, 2, 5, 8, 10, 11, 15, 16, 19, 20. The total score is to sum all item scores. Above is the scale.

Appendix H: Nurses Clinical Reasoning Scale

Directions: Please read each item and select the number that best describes your current clinical performance. There is no right or wrong answer.

	Strongly agree	Agree	Neutral [Disagree	Strongly disagree
1. I know how to collect an admitted patient's health information quickly.	5	4	3	2	1
2. I can apply proper assessment skills to collect a patient's current health information.	5	4	3	2	1
3. I can identify abnormalities from the collected patient information.	5	4	3	2	1
4. I can identify a patient's health problems from the abnormal information collected.	5	4	3	2	1
5. I can recognize possible early signs or symptoms when a patient's health deteriorates.	5	4	3	2	1
6. I can explain the mechanism and development associated with the early signs or symptoms when a patient's health deteriorates.	5	4	3	2	1
7. I can accurately prioritize and manage any identifiable patient problems.	5	4	3	2	1
8. I can correctly explain the mechanism behind a patient's problems.	5	4	3	2	1
9. I can set nursing goals properly for the identified patient problems.	5	4	3	2	1
10. I can provide appropriate nursing intervention for the identified patient problems.	5	4	3	2	1
11. I am knowledgeable of each nursing intervention provided.	5	4	3	2	1
12. I can identify and communicate vital information clearly to the doctors based on the patient's current condition.	5	4	3	2	1
13. I can anticipate the prescription ordered by the doctor according to the patient information provided.	5	4	3	2	1
14. I can accurately evaluate and identify whether a patient's condition is improved.	5	4	3	2	1
15. I know the follow-up steps to take if the patient's condition does not improve.	5	4	3	2	1

NCRS Scoring Instructions

The NCRS measures self-perceived nursing clinical reasoning ability. The scale contains 15 items with higher score indicating self-perceived higher level of clinical reasoning ability. There are no reverse questions. The total score is to sum all item scores. Above is the scale.

Strongly agree =5 Agree = 4 Neutral = 3 Disagree = 2 Strongly disagree = 1

Appendix I: NCTEI Permission for Use

Campbell, Marilyn <mjc2292@tc.columbia.edu>

NCTEI Instrument

Stephens-Kyte, Tara <tara.stephens-kyte@ubc.ca> To: "Bunnell, Keith" <keith.bunnell@ubc.ca> Cc: "mjc2292@tc.columbia.edu" <mjc2292@tc.columbia.edu> Mon, Dec 6, 2021 at 3:14 PM

Dear Marilyn,

I hope this message finds you well. Your question regarding permissions to use the instrument in the following items was forwarded to me by Keith Bunnell (cc'd): *Nursing clinical teacher effectiveness inventory*: http://hdl.handle.net/2429/29816

This item is licensed Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0) which indicates that you can share and adapt the material in this work as long as you provide attribution to the original. Details regarding the license can be found on the Creative Commons site: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/ Please see our FAQ on citing items in cIRcle if you have questions about this: https://circle.ubc.ca/about/faq/

For future questions regarding permissions for cIRcle items in Open Collections, scroll down the page of the item record for the Rights field. Some older materials such as theses deposited before 2009 may have special rights terms that appear when you click the link to the item record.

I hope the above information answers your question. If you have any additional questions regarding rights for items from the cIRcle repository, please contact us at circle.repository@ubc.ca

Best,

Tara

Tara Stephens-Kyte MLIS, MA (She/Her/Hers) Digital Repository Librarian UBC Library | clRcle, UBC's Open Access Research Repository The University of British Columbia | Vancouver Campus | Musqueam Traditional Territory Rm 266 1958 Main Mall Walter C. Koerner Library | VANCOUVER BC | V5Y0A5 Canada Phone 604 822 6577 tara.stephens-kyte@ubc.ca | @clRcle_UBC https://circle.ubc.ca Appendix J: Stait-Trait Anxiety Inventory Permission for Use

For use by Marilyn Campbell only. Received from Mind Garden, Inc. on August 10, 2021

Permission for Marilyn Campbell to reproduce 1 copy within three years of August 10, 2021

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults ™ (Forms Y1 and Y2)

Appendix K: The Nurse Clinical Reasoning Scale Permission to Use



Hi Marilyn,

You have our permission to use the scale in your Dissertation study. Information about the NCRS can be found in the article that reports the development of the scale (DOI: 10.1111/jan.12831). Please see the attached file for the scale. Please remember to cite the article whenever you publish your studies.

Good luck with your study. Chingyu

Ching-Yu Cheng, Ph.D., RN Professor Chang Gung University of Science and Technology email: chingyuus@gmail.com

📼 Tue, Aug 10, 8:35 PM (21 hours ago) 🛛 🛧 🗧 🚦